Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Progress in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pnmrs

Magnetic resonance thermometry and its biological applications – Physical principles and practical considerations $\stackrel{\star}{\sim}$



Henrik Odéen*, Dennis L. Parker

University of Utah, Utah Center for Advanced Imaging Research, Department of Radiology and Imaging Sciences, 729 Arapeen Drive, Salt Lake City, UT 84108-1217, USA

Edited by David Gadian and Dominique Massiot

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 October 2018 Accepted 23 January 2019 Available online 31 January 2019

Keywords: Magnetic resonance thermometry Magnetic resonance temperature imaging Proton resonance frequency shift

ABSTRACT

Most parameters that influence the magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) signal experience a temperature dependence. The fact that MRI can be used for non-invasive measurements of temperature and temperature change deep inside the human body has been known for over 30 years. Today, MR temperature imaging is widely used to monitor and evaluate thermal therapies such as radio frequency, microwave, laser, and focused ultrasound therapy. In this paper we cover the physical principles underlying the biological applications of MR temperature imaging and discuss practical considerations and remaining challenges. For biological tissue, the MR signal of interest comes mostly from hydrogen protons of water molecules but also from protons in, e.g., adipose tissue and various metabolites. Most of the discussed methods, such as those using the proton resonance frequency (PRF) shift, T₁, T₂, and diffusion only measure temperature change, but measurements of absolute temperatures are also possible using spectroscopic imaging methods (taking advantage of various metabolite signals as internal references) or various types of contrast agents. Currently, the PRF method is the most used clinically due to good sensitivity, excellent linearity with temperature, and because it is largely independent of tissue type. Because the PRF method does not work in adipose tissues, T₁- and T₂-based methods have recently gained interest for monitoring temperature change in areas with high fat content such as the breast and abdomen. Absolute temperature measurement methods using spectroscopic imaging and contrast agents often offer too low spatial and temporal resolution for accurate monitoring of ablative thermal procedures, but have shown great promise in monitoring the slower and usually less spatially localized temperature change observed during hyperthermia procedures. Much of the current research effort for ablative procedures is aimed at providing faster measurements, larger field-of-view coverage, simultaneous monitoring in aqueous and adipose tissues, and more motion-insensitive acquisitions for better precision measurements in organs such as the heart, liver, and kidneys. For hyperthermia applications, larger coverage, motion insensitivity, and simultaneous aqueous and adipose monitoring are also important, but great effort is also aimed at solving the problem of long-term field drift which gets interpreted as temperature change when using the PRF method.

© 2019 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	35
2.	Physical principles and practical considerations	36
	2.1. Proton resonance frequency (PRF) shift method	36
	2.1.1. Pulse sequences	39

^{*} This work was funded by Siemens Healthcare, the Mark H. Huntsman endowed chair, and NIH grants R01EB013433, R01CA172787, and S100D018482.

E-mail addresses: henrik.odeen@hsc.utah.edu (H. Odéen), dennis.parker@hsc. utah.edu (D.L. Parker).





^{*} Corresponding author.

35

		2.1.2. Challenges with the PRF method	40
	2.2.	Longitudinal (spin-lattice) relaxation time, <i>T</i> ₁	45
	2.3.	Transverse (spin-spin) relaxation time, T ₂	47
	2.4.	Signal intensity and proton density	49
	2.5.	Magnetization transfer	50
	2.6.	Diffusion	50
	2.7.	Spectroscopic approaches	51
	2.8.	Temperature sensitive contrast agents	52
	2.9.	Intermolecular multiple quantum coherences	53
	2.10.	Combined methods	54
3.	Discus	ssion and conclusions	55
	Decla	ration of interest	56
	Refere	ences	56

1. Introduction

Interventional magnetic resonance (MR) guided applications are gaining interest, as minimally-invasive and non-invasive procedures enable shorter hospital stays, less risk of infections, and faster recovery times. Thermal therapies such as radio frequency, microwave, laser, and focused ultrasound therapy are integral drivers of this evolution. These thermal therapies can broadly be divided into two areas; hyperthermia and ablative procedures. In hyperthermia applications the target temperature is in the range of 41–45 °C; these temperatures are maintained in the target tissue for tens of minutes up to an hour, and have been utilized to directly kill cancer cells or to sensitize them to cytotoxic agents and/or radiation. In ablative procedures considerably higher temperature increases, reaching up to 60–90 °C, are applied over short time periods from a few seconds up to approximately a minute, to induce coagulative tissue necrosis.

In general, in-vivo tissue heating can be rather complex both in terms of energy application/delivery and in terms of the biological response to the heating [1]. The energy deposition in the target depends on the tissue's ability to absorb the electromagnetic (in the case of radio frequency, microwave and laser) or acoustic (in the case of focused ultrasound) waves and is hence dependent both on tissue composition and its current state which may change with, for example, the tissue temperature. In ablative procedures, tissue coagulation may also significantly alter tissue parameters such as perfusion and heat conduction, and may result in a significant increase in the energy absorption. The conduction of the deposited heat through diffusion and perfusion will also vary locally depending, for example, on tissue composition, temperature, and physiological parameters. Further, physiological events, such as temperature-related changes in tissue perfusion, may also affect the induced heating both spatially and temporally.

It can be challenging to predict and model all these interacting effects of the local tissue temperature. Since the success of thermal therapies largely depends on the accuracy and precision with which temperature can be monitored and controlled, the in-vivo temperatures are ideally directly measured to ensure safe and efficient treatments. In the case of radio frequency-, microwave- and laser-based therapies the energy is most commonly delivered through a probe inserted into the body, where the probe often contains a thermometer. This does however just provide a point measurement and hence rather limited information. In the case of focused ultrasound where the energy delivering transducer is most commonly placed outside of the body (although, for example, transurethral and transrectal transducers are used) temperature probes can be inserted in the body. This does, however, reduce the non-invasiveness of the procedure and also just provides limited point measurements.

For these reasons many thermal therapies are currently performed under image guidance, and MRI is in many ways the ideal modality. MRI provides non-ionizing radiation imaging with excellent soft tissue contrast and high spatial resolution in any imaging orientation. This, together with the fact that many diseases and disorders can be visualized with the many different contrasts available, makes MRI a unique modality for treatment planning and targeting. For thermal treatment monitoring, MRI currently offers many of the most practical and widely available methods to accurately and non-invasively measure temperature inside the human body. Using MRI does require that the therapy equipment should not interact with the radio frequency (RF), gradient, and main magnetic fields of the MRI scanner, and that any magnetic or inducible parts be far from the MRI scanner [2–7]. Further, the presence of various biomedical implants and devices in the body may pose hazards for patients undergoing MR procedures, and thorough screening before any scan is important [8–10].

MR temperature imaging (MRTI) in biological tissue was first described in the early 1980s utilizing the temperature sensitivity of the T₁ relaxation time of the hydrogen protons in the water molecule [11,12]. Since then the temperature sensitivity of many other MR parameters such as the proton resonance frequency (PRF) shift, T₂, diffusion, and various contrast agents has been investigated. The PRF shift method is currently the most commonly used method due to its high sensitivity and excellent linearity for water protons over a relatively large temperature range, as well as its tissue-type independence, and because it can be performed with simple and widely available gradient recalled echo (GRE)type MRI pulse sequences. Challenges with the PRF shift method include its lack of sensitivity in adipose tissues and its ability to measure only relative temperature changes. Therefore, recent research has investigated T₁- and T₂-based approaches for measuring temperature in adipose tissue, and spectroscopy and contrast agent-based methods, which utilize internal references, have been investigated for absolute temperature measurements.

As the scope of this paper is limited to biological applications of MRTI, the MR signals discussed will be assumed to come from biological tissue. As the human body is composed of approximately 50–60% water, the majority of the signal comes from water molecules, more specifically from the protons in the hydrogen nuclei of water. Examples of proton spectra from muscle and brain tissues are shown in Fig. 1. As can be seen, the water peak is the dominant signal in both tissue types. In muscle, which also contains adipose tissue, signal from protons in various fatty acids are also detected. The water peak is located at 4.7 ppm and the main fat peaks (methylene, CH_2) are shifted approximately 3.5 ppm downfield, at around 1.2 ppm. In brain tissue various metabolite signals, such as those of creatine-CH₃ (tCr) and N-acetylaspartate (NAA), can be detected, but their intensities are very small compared to the H₂O peak.

This review discusses the physical principles of MRTI using PRF, T_1 , T_2 , diffusion, signal intensity (SI), magnetization transfer, spectroscopic approaches, various contrast agents, intermolecular quantum coherence, and the various combination methods (such



Fig. 1. In vivo MR spectrum of muscle (A and B) and brain (C and D) tissues. (A) Localized muscle ¹H spectrum acquired from a specific region (voxel) within the soleus muscle. The selected voxel is outlined by a white box superimposed on a cross-sectional MRI image of the calf. (B) Multiple lipid peaks can be resolved enabling the quantification of intra- and extramyocellular lipid (IMCL and EMCL). Peak 1: water; peak 2: choline-CH₃; peak 3: creatine-CH₃; peak 4: EMCL-CH₂; peak 5: IMCL-CH₂; peak 6: EMCL-CH₃; and peak 7: IMCL-CH₃. (C) The ¹H spectrum of the brain features a prominent water peak that overwhelms the metabolite signals. Pulse sequences are available that selectively suppress or excite specific frequencies. (D) The inclusion of a water-suppression module selectively minimizes the ¹H₂O peak and enhances the detection of brain metabolites such as creatine-CH₃ (tCr). From Befroy DE and Shulman Gl. Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy Studies of Human Metabolism. Diabetes, 2011 May; 60(5): 1361–1369. Reprinted with permission.

as simultaneous PRF-T₁, PRF-T₂, and PRF-SI) which have been described. The scope of the review is limited to MR imaging approaches (i.e., where magnetic field gradients are applied to spatially encode the received signal so as to create images) as these are by far the most commonly used approaches in clinical applications. Practical considerations, such as what pulse sequences are used, and remaining clinical challenges and practical issues, such as potential artifacts and motion sensitivity, are further covered. Table 1 presents a general overview of the material that will be discussed in the review, including advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches.

2. Physical principles and practical considerations

In this section the physical principles of the various temperature-sensitive MR parameters that have been used to perform MRTI are described and discussed. For each method the pros and cons are listed, and example pulse sequences are described.

2.1. Proton resonance frequency (PRF) shift method

The temperature dependence of the PRF shift method can be described by the chemical shift effect. Due to temperature-

Table 1

General overview of physical principles and mechanisms of all methods covered below. The general advantages and disadvantages of each method are described, and if the method measures a relative or absolute temperature change. For each method, the linearity and sensitivity with respect to temperature change, the spatial and temporal resolution that can be achieved, and its sensitivity to motion, is further given using; ++ = Very good, + = Good, +/- = Average, - = Bad, -- = Very bad.

	Mechanism/principle	Advantages	Disadvantages	Absolute or Relative	Linearity	Sensitivity	Spatial resolution	Temporal resolution	Motion sensitivity	Pulse sequence	B ₀ -field dependence
PRF	Hydrogen bondings are temperature dependent, resulting in increased electron screening and lower proton resonance frequencies at higher temperatures	High spatio-temporal resolution. Linear function of tissue temperature. Largely tissue type independent. Readily available imaging sequences	Does not work in adipose tissue.	Relative	++	+	++	++	+/	GRE (Modified SE possible)	Linear increase; $\omega = \gamma B_0$
T ₁	Energy exchange rate within and between water molecules increases with temperature	Readily available imaging sequences. Can be utilized in both aqueous and adipose tissues	Relatively low temperature sensitivity (a few %/°C). Multiple factors can affect T_1 . Change becomes non- linear at high temperatures	Relative	+ (below coagulation) – (above coagulation)	+/	+	+	+/	GRE and SE	T ₁ increases with B ₀ , but the observed T1 contrast decreases, resulting in reduced sensitivity
T ₂	The de-phasing of spins within an image voxel depends on random thermal motion	Can be utilized in both aqueous and adipose tissues. Relatively high sensitivity. 3–6%/°C	Can be time consuming to measure. dT ₂ /dT is tissue type-dependent	Relative	+	+	+	+/	+/	SE	T_2 largely unchanged with B_0
Signal Intensity and Proton density	Proton (polarization) density is inversely related to the tissue temperature according to the Boltzmann distribution	Readily available imaging sequences. Relatively tissue type independent	Very low temperature sensitivity, $\sim -0.3\%$ /°C for PD. dSI/dT can change with amount of T ₁ - and T ₂ -weighting	Relative	+/	-	+	+ (SI) - (PD)	+/-	GRE and SE	PD and SI increase linearly, but percentage change with temperature stays the same
Magnetization transfer	Exchange processes between macromolecule- bound protons and pool of "free" protons are temperature dependent	None noted	Tissue-type dependent. Low sensitivity. Can be hard to measure	Relative	+/_	_	+/	+/	+/	GRE and SE	Benefits from longer T_1 at high B_0
Diffusion	Temperature dependence of molecular diffusion obeys the Stokes-Einstein relation between viscosity and the translational self-diffusion coefficient, D	Readily available imaging sequences	Very sensitive to motion. Diffusion coefficient, <i>D</i> , depends on factors other than temperature. Slow imaging	Relative	-	+/	+	_	_	SE	Negligible
Spectroscopic approaches	Separation of peaks from different tissue molecular components in a frequency spectrum depends on temperature	Can measure absolute temperature. Less motion sensitive	Low spatio-temporal resolution	Absolute	++	+/	_	_	+	GRE and SE	Linear increase. High B_0 needed to detect small metabolic signals
Contrast agents	TSL – transmembrane permeability increase at transition temperature. Paramagnetic lanthanide complexes experience PRFS	Can measure absolute temperature	Potentially non- uniform uptake and potentially toxic. Slow imaging	Absolute	_	++	+/	+/_	+/	SE	Benefits from higher SNR
Intermolecular quantum coherence	Resonance frequency difference of two spins can be measured and is temperature sensitive	Can measures absolute temperature. Low motion and drift sensitivity. Works in both aqueous and adipose tissues	Low spatio-temporal resolution. Low SNR. Needs fat and water in close proximity	Absolute	+	+/-	-	-	++	SE	Linear increase

dependent hydrogen bonding between protons and the surrounding oxygen atoms on water molecules, the local magnetic field a proton experiences, B_{loc} , will change with temperature. Because the proton resonance frequency is directly proportional to the local field that the proton experiences according to the resonance equation, $\omega_0 = \gamma B_{loc}$, the proton's resonance frequency will also change with temperature. Here ω_0 is the Larmor frequency and γ is the gyromagnetic ratio. The fact that the resonance frequency of hydrogen protons in water molecules changes with temperature was first described in the 1950s and 1960s [13–15], and it was used to monitor temperatures in cell cultures [16] before being utilized in imaging and spectroscopic methods in the 1990s [17–22].

The local magnetic field in matter can be described by Maxwell's equations and depends on the applied external main magnetic field of the MRI scanner, B_0 , the volume magnetic susceptibility, χ_0 , and the electronic screening constant, σ . For aqueous tissues the electronic screening constant is approximately an order of magnitude larger than the magnetic susceptibility [23], and a simplified equation describing the local magnetic field experienced by the protons can be written as

$$B_{\text{loc}} \cong B_0(1 - \sigma(T)) \tag{1}$$

The effects of this simplification are discussed in more detail below. The temperature dependence of σ arises from the shielding of the hydrogen nucleus (i.e., the protons being imaged in MRI) by the surrounding electron cloud, which is affected by temperaturedependent inter-molecular bondings between different water molecules (Fig. 2). The electron cloud of the hydrogen atoms interacts with the applied B_0 -field. This interaction creates a current density at the site of the hydrogen nucleus according to Faraday's law. Since the polarity of the induced current density creates a magnetic field that opposes the applied B_0 -field, the electron cloud effectively shields the nucleus, resulting in a decreased B_{loc} . When the temperature increases, the inter-molecular hydrogen bonds start to rupture [13–15], bend [15,24], and break [13]. The result is that on average the water molecules spend less time in a hydrogen-bonded state, and the shielding from the electron cloud increases, resulting in a lower B_{loc} and hence a lower resonance frequency ω_0 with increased temperatures.

For aqueous tissue, the change of the electronic shielding constant with temperature is described by a linear relationship according to

$$\sigma(T) = \alpha T$$

where α is called the PRF coefficient and is measured in ppm/°C. For adipose tissues, which lack hydrogen bonds, the change in resonance frequency with temperature is dominated by susceptibility effects, as discussed below. Because of the unique properties of the PRF coefficient, the PRF method has become the most widely used method to monitor temperature in aqueous tissues. The PRF coefficient, α , has been found to be, to a large degree, tissue type independent and is constant over a wide temperature range, from -15 °C to close to 100 °C for pure water and from 20 °C to 80 °C for aqueous tissues [15,25]. The linear temperature range includes the temperatures usually targeted in both ablative- and hyperthermic-thermal therapies. The value of α is often assumed to be around -0.010 ppm/°C, but values between -0.007 and -0.011 have been reported depending on tissue type [26]. Some of the discrepancies in the reported values of α might be attributed to temperature-dependent changes in the tissue electrical properties and experimental parameters such as heat-source geometry and orientation, and partial volume effects encountered during calibration experiments, as discussed in more detail below [25,27–30]. α has further been shown to be consistent even after tissue ablation [25,31]. Although the reported values of α , which are on the order of fractions of ppm/°C, seem very small, they highlight the fact that very accurate phase measurements can be obtained with MRI. This is exemplified by the precise in-vivo temperature measurements which can be made by the PRF method, where precisions of 1-2 °C are routinely achieved [32-36].

The change in resonance frequency due to the PRF shift with temperature is observed in the phase of the complex MRI image. By subtracting a baseline reference phase image, acquired before the onset of temperature change, from phase images acquired while the temperature is changing, non-temperature related phases from, e.g., inhomogeneities in the B₀-field and due to difference in the phase of different RF-receive coils can be removed (Fig. 3). The resulting temperature-dependent phase can be written



Fig. 2. Schematic depicting the temperature dependence of the PRF. At lower temperatures strong hydrogen bondings exist between water molecules, resulting is weak shielding of the hydrogen proton. As temperature increases the molecular movements increase and the hydrogen bonds start to break, resulting in greater shielding from the electron cloud, and a lower resonance frequency. From Chapter 15 in Theory and Applications of Heat Transfer in Humans. Henrik Odéen and Dennis L Parker, Non-Invasive Thermometry with Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Devashish Shrivastava (Editor). John Wiley and Sons 2018. Reprinted with permission.

$$\Delta \phi = \phi(T) - \phi(T_{ref}) = \gamma \alpha B_0 T E \Delta T$$
⁽²⁾

where $\Delta \phi$ is the measured phase change between temperatures *T* and T_{ref} TE is the echo time, and $\Delta T = T - T_{ref}$. To improve the signal-to-noise ratio of the temperature measurements the noise in the reference image acquired at T_{ref} can be decreased by averaging multiple reference images acquired before the onset of temperature change [34]. To avoid phase discontinuities due to phase wrap, which occur when the phase change, $\Delta \phi$, exceeds $\pm \pi$, a running complex subtraction between successive dynamic images can be performed according to

$$\Delta \phi = \phi_j - \phi_{j+1} = angle \left(I_j * I_{j+1}^* \right) = \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{Re(I_{j+1})Im(I_j) - Re(I_j)Im(I_{j+1})}{Re(I_j)Re(I_{j+1}) + Im(I_j)Im(I_{j+1})} \right)$$
(3)

where *Re* and *Im* are the real and imaginary parts of images I_1 and I_2 [37], respectively. When all individual phase differences are calculated, they can be summed up to produce the final, total phase difference from which ΔT can be obtained. As can be seen, the PRF method only calculates temperature change compared to some reference temperature when the reference phase map was acquired. To convert to absolute temperatures the baseline temperature T_{ref} must be known and the absolute temperature can be calculated as $T(t) = T_{ref} + \Delta T(t)$.

2.1.1. Pulse sequences

The pulse sequences used in the PRF method must have a time interval, TE, between the time that all of the proton magnetic moments were in phase and the time when the zeroth gradient moment is zero. In spin echo (SE) pulse sequences, the dephasing magnetization is rephased by a refocusing (180°) RF pulse. If the time of spin refocusing occurs at the time of the gradients' zero moment, the measured phase will be independent of magnetic field differences and hence independent of temperature. Since the 180° refocusing RF-pulse used to create the spin-echo refocuses all the spins at the time TE, no phase accrual due to PRF shift is normally seen in SE pulse sequences. To measure temperaturedependent phase change with a SE sequence a delay time (corresponding to the TE in GRE, see below) needs to be inserted between the time point where the spins refocus and the data acquisition so that phase accrual due to the PRF shift is created and can be measured [19,38,39].

For a gradient recalled echo (GRE) pulse sequence, TE is defined as the time from the excitation RF to the center of the frequency encoding (readout) gradient. Due to its simplicity and speed (there is no need for a refocusing RF-pulse and TR can be kept relatively short), GRE pulse sequences are currently the most used pulse sequences for PRF shift MRTI, and in principle any GRE-type pulse sequence can be utilized. Most commonly spoiled GRE pulse sequences, utilizing gradient and/or RF-spoiling, are used [40]. In the simplest form, and in what is currently the most used approach clinically, a single GRE-echo is sampled after each RF pulse, followed by the spoiling. To improve the temporal resolution and achieve faster imaging, echo planar imaging (EPI), where multiple lines of k-space are sampled after a single RF-excitation pulse using an echo-train, have been quite extensively utilized. Both segmented (multi-shot), where the full k-space is acquired in multiple segments after multiple RF-pulses, and single shot, where the full k-space is acquired in a single segment after a single RF-pulse, versions of GRE-EPI have been described [41-50].

As for any application using a spoiled GRE pulse sequence, the flip angle should be chosen to be the Ernst angle, which depends on the T_1 and TR according to $\alpha_E = \arccos(e^{-TR/T_1})$ [51,52].

To achieve the optimal precision in PRF shift thermometry the phase difference SNR, $SNR_{\Delta\phi}$, should be maximized [37]. The phase difference SNR can be expressed in terms of the "signal", corresponding to the phase difference $\Delta\phi$ at the heating location, and the "noise", corresponding to the standard deviation of the phase difference, $\sigma_{\Delta\phi}$, in the background, according to

$$SNR_{\Delta\phi} = \frac{|\Delta\phi(\Delta T)|}{\sigma_{AJ}} \tag{4}$$

Since $\sigma_{\Delta\phi}$ is approximately equal to $\sqrt{2}\sigma/SI$ for high SNR, where σ is the Gaussian noise standard deviation of the real and imaginary parts of the MR image and *SI* is the spoiled-GRE signal intensity, $SNR_{\Delta\phi} \propto |\Delta\phi(\Delta T)| \cdot SI$. The signal intensity *SI* depends on both tissue parameters such as the T_1 and T_2^* relaxation times and the proton density, as well as pulse sequence imaging parameters such as TR, TE, flip angle, voxel size and bandwidth. If the tissue parameters are assumed to be relatively constant as a first order approximation, *SI* will only depend on the imaging parameters. Since the GRE MR signal decays with the T_2^* relaxation time according to e^{-TE/T_2^*} , and the phase accrues linearly with time from the time of excitation until the time of signal sampling at TE, $SNR_{\Delta\phi}$ can be expressed as



Fig. 3. Phase map subtraction to calculate PRF temperature maps. Two orthogonal views from a focused ultrasound heating in porcine muscle. By subtracting the reference phase map acquired before the start of the heating from the phase map of the current time frame and scaling according to $\Delta T = \Delta \phi / \gamma \alpha BOTE$ the PRF temperature map can be calculated. It can be noted that by using complex subtraction, phase wraps occurring in the phase images (red arrows) get subtracted out and do not occur in the temperature map. From Chapter 15 in Theory and Applications of Heat Transfer in Humans. Henrik Odéen and Dennis L Parker, Non-Invasive Thermometry with Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Devashish Shrivastava (Editor). John Wiley and Sons 2018. Reprinted with permission.

(5)

$SNR_{\Delta\phi} \propto TE \cdot e^{-TE/T_2^*}$

where differentiation with respect to TE gives the optimal echo time of $TE = T_2^*$. For most practical purposes the T_2^* of the tissue is rather long, so obeying $TE = T_2^*$ would result in long *TE* and hence long *TR* and long scan times. In practice TE is therefore chosen as a trade-off between fast scan time (shorter TE and TR) and high precision in the phase difference measurement (long TE). Various approaches have successfully been described to both prolong TE by defocusing and storing successively excited 2D slices in k-space and later refocusing the slices with a longer than normal TE (MASTER, multiple adjacent slice thermometry with excitation refocusing), and to use echo-shifting to create TE > TR [45,53–55]. Although both approaches can lengthen TE, they are both subject to increased signal loss due to interactions with subsequent excitation pulses and the presence of signals from multiple pathways yielding a spread in actual TE of the received signal. Since the imaging SNR, and hence the PRF precision, is proportional to the square root of the total sampling/readout time, the precision can also be improved by increasing the sampling time. For PRF based MRTI, this has been done by acquiring multi-echo readouts, i.e., the same line of kspace is sampled multiple times with different echo times [36,56].

The GRE sequences described so far have utilized spoiled GRE readouts. It is also possible under certain circumstances to sample the higher SNR non-spoiled GRE signal utilizing so-called steady-state free precession pulse sequences, which can be both non-balanced (i.e., non-zero gradient area in any given TR) and balanced (i.e., zero gradient area in any given TR). Just as for spoiled GRE sequences, this can be done utilizing single-echo and multi-echo sampling to prolong the total sampling time [57,58]. For SSFP sequences multiple signal pathways can further be sampled, which again prolongs the total sampling time resulting in better PRF precision [46].

2.1.2. Challenges with the PRF method

This sub-section will discuss challenges including different tissue types (such as aqueous versus adipose tissues), magnetic susceptibility (which has been shown to have a large effect in adipose tissues, and the fact that it changes with the geometry and orientation of both the device delivering tissue heating and the pattern of the delivered temperature rise, relative to B_0), B_0 field drift (due to, e.g., gradient system heating), electrical properties (i.e., change in electrical properties with temperature resulting in constant incremental phase shift per unit change in temperature), perfusion (via the associated changes in the fractional regional blood volume of in-vivo tissue), and tissue motion (both intraand inter-scan motion due to, e.g., respiration, cardiac pulsation, peristalsis, and bulk patient motion).

Tissue-type dependence As discussed above, the PRF method has become the standard for MRTI in aqueous tissues because of the properties of α in these tissues. α is largely tissue type independent, linear over a large temperature range, and not significantly affected even after tissue ablation. One significant disadvantage of the PRF method is that adipose tissues do not have the same type of hydrogen bondings as aqueous tissues since the proton signal is from lipids rather than from water molecules (see also Fig. 1). The PRF change with temperature is therefore very small, on the order of -0.00018 ppm/°C [31,59]). This means that temperature changes in adipose tissues, such as commonly occurring in the breast and abdomen, cannot be monitored by the PRF method. In these tissues the temperature dependence is instead dominated by the temperature dependence of the magnetic susceptibility as discussed below. In voxels that contain a mixture of adipose and aqueous tissues, the measured change in the PRF with temperature will be reduced, resulting in an underestimation of the measured temperature change. It has, however, been shown that this effect

can be reduced by utilizing a multi-echo approach if only small amounts of fat are present (<20%) [60]. When fat is present the temperature measured assuming "aqueous PRF" becomes dependent on TE, alternatively over- and under-estimating the temperature approximately every pi radians (Fig. 4). Using multiple echoes appropriately spaced and with a weighted echo-combination (based on how many echoes resulted in temperature over- versus under-estimations) the resulting error can be greatly reduced. To avoid the problem of multiple species, either suppression of the fat signal or selective excitation of the water signal is routinely employed and generally works well [31,44,45,61-64], especially at higher field strengths (>3 T) where the frequency separation of the fat and water peaks, which is on the order of 3.5 ppm depending on the fat composition, is larger. An alternative to suppressing the fat signal or selectively exciting the water signal is to image both species and perform fat-water separation using techniques such as Dixon or IDEAL [36,65–67]. If the fat is imaged, its signal can be utilized to correct the PRF measurements in aqueous tissues for errors from, e.g., B_0 -field drifts and phase errors related to breathing and cardiac motion [65,68-72] (Fig. 5).

Magnetic susceptibility Equation 1 does not consider the temperature dependence of the magnetic susceptibility, χ_0 , as it has been shown to be on the order of 0.0016 ppm/°C for aqueous tissues over a temperature range of 30–45 °C – nearly an order of magnitude smaller than the effects from the electronic screening constant [23]. Based on this, many studies concerned with aqueous tissues such as muscle do not account for the temperature dependence of χ_0 . It has been shown that for these tissues this results in temperature errors smaller than 10% [23]. It is possible to take into account the temperature dependence of χ_0 and Equation 1 becomes [23,59,73–75]

$$B_{loc} \cong B_{mac} - \left(\frac{2\chi_0(T)}{3} + \sigma(T)\right) B_0 \tag{6}$$

where B_{mac} is the macroscopic magnetic flux density of an object with magnetic susceptibility χ_0 placed in the external field B_0 . Higher order terms of χ_0 and σ have been neglected. B_{mac} depends on both B_0 and the geometry and the susceptibility distribution in and around the object being imaged.

Even though the effect of including χ_0 is rather small for aqueous tissues, the effect is substantially larger for adipose tissues where the temperature dependence of χ_0 has been found to be in the range of 0.0039–0.0094 ppm/°C [76,77] and can cause substantial distortions to both B_0 and B_{mac} . This has been shown to be a substantial source of errors in and around high fat content tissues [23,69,76–78]. It has further been shown that the local susceptibility changes, unlike chemical shift changes, are tissue type dependent [75]. Susceptibility effects can also depend on the geometry and orientation of both the device delivering the heating (e.g., the HIFU transducer) and the pattern of the delivered temperature rise, relative to B_0 [59,74]. Correction methods, based on, e.g., perturbation theory applied to the magneto-static Maxwell's equations or based on 3D thermal modeling [78,79], have been presented. These approaches are not trivial since precise knowledge of, e.g., the local tissue susceptibility distribution and its temperature dependence, relative fat and water contents, and the shape of the heated region are needed. Hence, accurate PRFbased thermometry in high fat-content tissues remains challenging, and this is especially true for non-spherical heating patterns occurring perpendicular to B_0 .

Lastly, the local microscopic susceptibility of tissues has been shown to depend on the concentrations of deoxyhaemoglobin and myoglobin which can change during therapy, as discussed in relation to changes in perfusion below.

 B_0 field drift Since the PRF method measures very small frequency changes, on the order of 0.010 ppm/°C, and the resonance



Fig. 4. Temperature error for temperature changes from -60 to 60 °C as a function of echo time, expressed in terms of the phase angle between water and fat. Left image shows the absolute temperature error for a mixture of 90% water and 10% fat, and the right image for a mixture of 80% water and 20% fat. From "Echo Combination to Reduce Proton Resonance Frequency (PRF) Thermometry Errors From Fat" Viola Rieke and Kim Butts Pauly. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging 27:673–677 (2008). Fig. 2. Reprinted with permission.



Fig. 5. Temperature absolute error maps (°C) for conventional PRFS (a–c), and fat-referenced method (d–f). (a,b) depict error maps in breast, (b,e) depict error maps in prostate gland only, and (c,f) depict error maps in 41 × 41 pixel region surrounding the prostate gland. In the prostate gland for example, the RMSE reduced from 4.5 to 2.8 °C when the fat-referenced method was applied. Yellow arrows highlight measurement error near rectum. From "Fat-Referenced MR Thermometry in the Breast and Prostate Using IDEAL" Lorne W. Hofstetter, Desmond T.B. Yeo, W. Thomas Dixon, James G. Kempf, Cynthia E. Davis, and Thomas K. Foo. Journal of magnetic resonance imaging 36:722–732 (2012). Fig. 7. Reprinted with permission.

frequency is $\omega = \gamma B_{loc}$, it is naturally very sensitive to time-varying changes in the local magnetic field. The fact that the temperature maps are calculated as a phase difference between the current and baseline phase maps further increases the sensitivity. A small change or drift in the B_{loc} -field will change the resonance frequency ω and can result in substantial errors in the phase difference map, and hence in the calculated temperature maps. Modern clinical scanners have relatively stable B_0 fields with field drifts often quoted in the range of 0.1 ppm/hour. However, additional drift caused by, e.g., gradient system heating that occurs when applying large gradients [80,81], such as the readout gradients in echo-

planar imaging pulse sequences, can add substantial amounts of field drift (Fig. 6). As an example, spatio-temporal B_0 phase drifts on the order of 0.01 to 0.06 ppm/minute (corresponding to 0.6 to 3.6 ppm/hour) have been reported for clinical horizontal bore scanners while scanning [25,80]. Assuming a PRF coefficient of $-0.010 \text{ ppm/}^{\circ}\text{C}$ this results in temperature errors of up to 6 °C/ minute of scan time just from drift in B_0 . The field drifts can result in both over- and under-estimation errors depending on the polarity of the induced field drift [21,80].

Assuming the drift is slowly varying in space and time, it can be corrected for during image post-processing using either internal or



MRI hardware temperature change and effect on MR thermometry

Fig. 6. Scanner temperature and phase change under different thermometry sequences. (A) Temperature of the inner bore of the MRI increased at different rates during scanning depending on the gradient duty cycle of the sequence: echo-planar (EPI, upper curve) versus fast field echo (FFE, lower curve). The scan parameter and fan setting in the MR console were kept the same for two sequences. (B) Phase measurements acquired with MR thermometry (red and blue increasing curves) in an unheated phantom during scanning shows a monotonic change in phase. No significant temperature change was observed in the phantom (green and pink flat curves). The rate of change appears to be related to the gradient duty cycle and magnet heating. From "Drift correction for accurate PRF-shift MR thermometry during mild hyperthermia treatments with MR-HIFU" Chenchen Bing, Robert M. Staruch, Matti Tillander, Max O. Köhler, Charles Mougenot, Mika Ylihautala, Theodore W. Laetsch and Rajiv Chopra. Int J Hyperthermia. 2016 Sep;32(6):673–87. Fig. 4. Reprinted with permission.

external references. For internal references surrounding waterbased tissues can be utilized assuming the reference-tissue does not change temperature [82-89]. This is commonly done in ablative therapies where the heated region is generally localized. For hyperthermia treatments where large tissue volumes are routinely heated, fat-based tissues can be used as a reference [65,68–70,90]. Using fat-based tissues has the added advantage that since their PRF change with temperature is small, the correction will work even if the tissue itself heats up. External references, such as the water bolus commonly used for RF hyperthermia treatments [91,92], or separate external vials or tubes [20,23,80], sometimes filled with lipids [93,94], have also been employed to monitor and correct for the field drift. For both internal or external references a polynomial fit is generally performed to the reference medium and then extrapolated over the heated region and used to subtract the effect of the field drift [82,83,91,94].

In an alternative approach so-called navigator echoes can be sampled and used to correct for the overall field drift either at the time of data acquisition (by adjusting the resonance frequency accordingly) or retrospectively (Fig. 7) [95]. It should be noted that this approach works best for localized heating, whereas for nonlocalized heating (such as certain hyperthermia treatments) the navigator correction could potentially cause an error by measuring and removing some of the temperature-induced phase change.

Electrical properties Change in electrical properties with temperature can result in a constant incremental phase shift per unit change in temperature which is independent of TE [27–29]. A time-varying inductive field (such as the RF excitation-fields used in MRI) will undergo amplitude attenuation and phase retardation in electrically conductive materials [96]. In MRI this results in nonuniform flip-angle and phase of the transverse magnetization which depends on the depth of the imaged tissue. The spatial dependence of the phase retardation depends on the specific tissue properties and composition and the imaging RF coils used. Since both the electric conductivity, and to a lesser degree the electric permittivity, have temperature dependences (for conductivity $\sim 1.7\%$ /°C for dog muscle, and for permittivity $\sim 0.5\%$ /°C for pure water, have been reported [27,97]), the described phase retardation will increase with increasing temperature. When this happens the subtraction of a baseline image, as is usually done in the PRF method as described above, will not account for this additional phase retardation, resulting in a temperature measurement error. Since the retardation depends on the RF fields, and not on TE, as the PRF shift induced phase shift, it will only depend on the induced temperature change. The effect is further independent of field strength. Since the phase retardation varies with tissue depth, so will the severity of the induced phase error when large tissue volumes are heated [27,28]. The problem is hence likely to be more pronounced for, e.g., deep regional hyperthermia applications, which heat larger tissue volumes. For ablation procedures on the other hand, which generally ablate small tissue volumes, the problem is not likely to introduce substantial errors. However, many calibration experiments are performed on tissue samples in (large) water baths, and the resulting PRF-coefficient might therefore not be accurately estimated. This can possibly explain some of the variation seen in published PRF-coefficient values [25,26]. A method using dual-echo readouts (i.e., reading out the same k-space line with different TEs) has been presented and evaluated ex-vivo and in-vivo, and corrects for the temperature-dependent PRF coefficient [25,27,98,99].

Perfusion and blood volume It has been showed that the fractional regional blood volume of in-vivo muscle increases with increased temperature and decreases with decreased temperatures (a 2.7 times increase for a temperature rise of 3.7 °C and a 3.5 times decrease for a temperature decrease of -8.8 °C have been reported) [100]. Increased regional blood volume associated, for example, with increased perfusion, will affect the local magnetic field due to the magnetism of hemoglobin. Increased volume will result in a reduced local field, decreasing the resonance frequency and therefore potentially resulting in an overestimation of the PRF temperatures [90]. A reduced blood volume will have the opposite effect on the local field, potentially resulting in an underestimation of the PRF temperatures. Since the susceptibility of blood is further dependent on its oxygenation level, not only changes in blood volume, but also change in the oxygenation level of the blood (the socalled blood oxygenation level dependent, BOLD, signal) will affect the PRF temperature measurements [101]. To date only anecdotal reports of the effect of perfusion changes on PRF temperatures



Fig. 7. Phantoms under non-heating conditions. (a) PRF temperature precision images for gelatin and pork comparing the no breathing, breathing without correction, and breathing with correction cases without FUS heating. (b) PRF temperature change of a single voxel in gelatin phantom for all three cases. (c) PRF temperature change of a single voxel in pork phantom for all three cases. From "Respiration artifact correction in three-dimensional proton resonance frequency MR thermometry using phase navigators" Bryant T Svedin, Allison Payne, and Dennis L Parker. Magn Reson Med. 2016 Jul;76(1):206–13. Fig. 3. Reprinted with permission.

have been reported [21,75,90], and the induced errors seem likely to be relatively small. For example, Gellermann et al. estimated a temperature error of 1 °C due to a measured perfusion increase of approximately 5 mL/100 g/min. The severity of the induced error due to perfusion changes is further likely to be very targetand patient-specific as it will depend on the local blood vessel size and orientation, and it has been shown that the blood flow direction affects the induced fields [102]. It can lastly be hypothesized that temperature overestimations will be most commonly seen in hyperthermia applications which heat large tissue volumes (and hence increase the perfusion), whereas temperature underestimations might be seen in ablation applications where potentially large non-perfused volumes of ablated tissue can be encountered.

Motion The PRF method is sensitive to both intra-scan (i.e., during the acquisition of a single image) and inter-scan (i.e., between consecutive images) motion, and different approaches have been suggested to deal with each type of motion. In general, intra-scan motion is handled during the image acquisition step, whereas inter-scan motion is handled preferably during the postprocessing of the PRF shift phase data. Depending on the target, a combination of both correction methods is often needed, e.g. when targeting abdominal organs or the heart which both exhibit fast motion in complex motion patterns. Motion of tissue in the form of deformations caused by, e.g., tissue swelling can also occur [103], and can be hard to correct for.

Just as in MR imaging in general, the PRF method is sensitive to intra-scan tissue and organ motion occurring during the image acquisition. Intra-scan motion results in blurring and ghosting artifacts across the phase-encoding direction in both the MR magnitude and phase images and will hence also degrade the PRF temperature maps. The most straightforward approach to alleviate problems with intra-scan motion is to reduce the acquisition time to attempt to freeze the motion. Fast GRE pulse sequences such as SSFP (which utilizes short TR values) and EPI (which samples multiple lines of k-space after each RF-excitation) have been utilized to speed up PRF acquisitions [32,41-50,57,58,104-106]. Most SSFP and EPI acquisitions have performed the k-space sampling on a Cartesian grid. As in other fields of MRI, the increased motionrobustness and more efficient sampling of k-space offered by non-Cartesian sampling patterns, such as radial and spiral, have also been utilized for the PRF method [36,50,53,56,107-110]. In, e.g., radial imaging where each view acquires the central points of k-space, these data can be used as a type of navigator to correct for motion [36,111]. Reconstruction time can be an issue for non-Cartesian approaches, as these routinely rely on post-processing steps such as density compensation and gridding onto a Cartesian grid, before standard Fourier transform and PRF calculations are performed. It can be challenging to perform all these postprocessing steps in real-time (on the order of a few seconds), especially for volumetric acquisitions which contains many slices [35,36]. In addition to utilizing fast and more efficient pulse sequences, the image acquisition can be shortened by only sampling part of the k-space data and utilizing dedicated reconstruction methods to reconstruct artifact-free images. One popular and straightforward approach which is widely used in MRI in general, and also in PRF shift imaging, is parallel imaging, where the different spatial sensitivity from different RF-receive coils is used to reconstruct the images. Parallel imaging can be performed in both image space and k-space [112,113], and both approaches have been utilized in PRF shift imaging [50,71,114–117]. The speed-up factor that can be achieved depends on the number of available RF-coils, but acceleration factors between 2 and 6 have been reported in-vivo. In general, parallel imaging approaches are better tolerated at higher field strengths, taking advantage of the higher signal intensities with lower noise. Utilizing the different coil sensitivities, a recently developed method called simultaneous multi-slice (SMS) MRI has also been investigated for MRTI [54,118], achieving acceleration factors in the range of 3-4. In SMS MRI, multiple 2D slices are simultaneously excited and sampled, and the coil sensitivities are used to reconstruct artifactfree images. The theory of compressed sensing [119] has been utilized in PRF shift imaging to reconstruct subsampled k-space data [47,120,121] as well, and speed-up factors on the order of 3–10 are commonly achieved with these methods (Fig. 8). The largest challenge with these methods is that they are iterative in nature, and hence not well suited for real-time applications like MRTI where the temperature maps need to be available in very close to real time. Lastly, different filtering, modeling, and fitting approaches have been described to reconstruct subsampled data [122-129]. Kalman filters have been used to both reconstruct subsampled kspace data and to de-noise other fast PRF shift imaging acquisitions [125–128]. Todd et al. described a methods using The Pennes bioheat equation [130] to predict and fill in missing k-space data, and Gaur et al. described a method of direct k-space fitting [123,124]. In general, the filtering and fitting methods are non-iterative and less computationally heavy, and hence better suited for real-time applications.

The duration of most thermal therapies, ablation and hyperthermia alike, is too long to allow for breath-held imaging to eliminate respiratory motion, which is an otherwise popular approach in other MRI applications. Utilizing multiple breath-holds generally does not work either since it can be hard to get repeatable enough breath-holds for the phase-differencing needed to calculate the PRF temperature change. Gating methods, where the MRI acquisition is gated to either the cardiac or respiratory cycle and data are only sampled during (quasi-)calm periods of organ motion, have been utilized with more success. Gating has been described in both animal models and humans, under both ventilated and free breathing [131,132]. As in any gated acquisition. the methods can fail if the breathing is too irregular, resulting in errors in the temperature maps [114]. As an alternative or complement to gating, so-called navigator echoes can also be utilized [133]. The navigators monitor a specific tissue, such as the diaphragm, and trigger the data acquisition when the tissue is in a specific state. The use of navigators works well for rigid body motion but tends to fail for more complex motion patterns and



Fig. 8. Temperature mapping for transcranial MRgHIFU. A compressed sensing method called temporally constrained reconstruction (TCR) is used to reconstruct 3D temperature maps during in-vivo brain imaging using k-space data subsampled with a factor of 6x. 1.5 mm × 2.0 mm × 3.0 mm resolution (zero-filled to 1.0 mm isotropic spacing), 288 mm × 216 mm × 108 mm FOV, and 1.8 s per time frame was achieved. The rows shown sagittal, axial, and coronal slices through the 3D imaging volume, and the columns show magnitude images, temperature maps, and temperature standard deviation maps. From "Reconstruction of Fully Three-Dimensional High Spatial and Temporal Resolution MR Temperature Maps for Retrospective Applications" Nick Todd, Urvi Vyas, Josh de Bever, Allison Payne, and Dennis L. Parker. Magnetic Resonance in Medicine 67:724–730 (2012). Fig. 4. Reprinted with permission.

tissue deformations, commonly seen in the abdomen and the heart. Another major drawback of gated acquisitions is the prolonged scan time due to the low duty-cycle of the acquisition, and moreover the temporal resolution can vary and depends on the motion frequency.

The PRF method is not only sensitive to motion within the imaged field of view (FOV), but also to organ motion occurring outside. Motion of organs outside the FOV, such as filling of the lungs during breast imaging, will change the susceptibility inside the FOV, and hence affect the resonance frequency of the spins being imaged. One approach to correct this is to acquire field-navigator echoes before and after each readout, and to use the phase of the navigators to correct the field variation induced by the changing susceptibility due to the organ motion [95] (Fig. 7).

Inter-scan motion, caused by respiration, cardiac motion, peristalsis, and any other bulk patient motion can be a large problem because the pre-heating baseline image might have shifted compared to the images acquired during heating, causing problems with the phase differencing. New and additional baseline images cannot be acquired after the start of the heating, until the tissue has cooled back to its nominal temperature, as this would also introduce errors in the phase-differencing. Two different postprocessing/reconstruction approaches, and also combinations of the two methods, have been presented to solve the problem of interscan motion. In multibaseline reconstruction, a library containing multiple baseline images acquired before the start of the heating, each acquired during a different part of the organ motion/breathing cycle, is generated [49,68,134-136]. The images acquired during the heating are then compared to all the images in the library, and the baseline image (or some weighted combination of multiple baseline images) which is closest to the current image is used as the baseline for the phase difference calculation. The images can be compared using non-similarity or inter-correlation coefficients, or by means of evaluating the signal from a navigator echo [49,68,134,135]. Multibaseline methods correct for cyclic and repetitive motion such as cardiac and respiratory motion, but not for irregular motion such as bulk patient motion and peristalsis. Multibaseline approaches have been described and successfully implemented for brain [34,137], breast [36,138], cardiac [136], liver [32,135,136], kidney [32,49,139,140], and pancreas [141].

In referenceless PRF methods [82,89], the images acquired during the heating are themselves used to estimate the background phase which is subtracted to create the phase difference image. In its simplest form a polynomial is fitted to the unwrapped background phase (i.e., the background which does not experience any temperature rise). The polynomial fit is then extrapolated to cover the heated region, and a subtraction between the acquired image and the extrapolated polynomial is performed to achieve a phase difference image. Multiple extensions and improvements to the original method have been published, e.g. using complex polynomials, phase gradients, phase finite differences, or a magnitudesorted list with multi-clustering approach to avoid the need for phase unwrapping [85,88,142,143], or the use of a regression algorithm to avoid the need to manually define an ROI [83]. Referenceless methods can compensate for both irregular (non-repetitive) physiological motion and B_0 field drifts. Since a region of unheated tissue is needed for the polynomial fit, referenceless methods usually work well in ablation procedures, but not always in hyperthermia applications where larger tissue regions can be heated. If adipose tissues are present in the image they should either be saturated or handled separately from the aqueous tissues since echo-time dependent phase discontinuities will appear at tissue interfaces between adipose and aqueous tissues. This can be done by, e.g., fat-water separation and separate polynomial fitting to each tissue type [144]).

Hybrid multibaseline-referenceless methods have also been described, which combine the immunity to repetitive motion of the multibaseline approach with the field-drift correction and immunity to irregular motion of the referenceless approach [128,129,136,139,140]. These methods have been shown to work well in brain, cardiac, kidney and liver applications (Fig. 9).

2.2. Longitudinal (spin-lattice) relaxation time, T₁

Longitudinal (or spin-lattice) relaxation of water protons in biological tissue is mediated primarily by intra-molecular dipolar interactions (i.e., between hydrogen protons in the same water molecule), but also to a lesser degree by inter-molecular interactions (i.e., between protons in water and surrounding molecules). These interactions fluctuate as a result of the random thermal motion of molecules in the body. The interactions depend on the local magnetic field experienced by the protons and can be described by a frequency spectral density, $I(\omega)$, which is a measure of the number of interactions occurring at different frequencies, Fig. 10. For most effective relaxation of an excited spin system back to equilibrium, the fluctuations must occur at, or close to, the Larmor frequency, ω_0 . Water in biological tissue experiences diverse local molecular environments and undergoes interactions with a wide range of other molecules of various sizes. As a result, extrapolation from the known theory of relaxation to a precise characterization of relaxation in biological tissue is fraught with problems. Nevertheless, as a first approximation, the relaxation time T_1 can be expressed in terms of τ_c , γ , ω_0 , and the local field, B_{loc} [11,145,146] according to

$$\frac{1}{T_1} = \frac{2\gamma^2 B_{loc}^2}{3} \frac{\tau_c}{1 + \omega_0^2 \tau_c^2}$$
(7)

where τ_c is the characteristic timescale of the magnetic fluctuations. The relationship between T_1 and τ_c is schematically shown in Fig. 11 and experimentally in, e.g., references [11,12,147]. For the field strengths and temperatures experienced in clinical MRI, it can be concluded that, as an approximation

$$\frac{1}{T_1} \propto \tau_c$$
 (8)

It can be shown that τ_c is also inversely proportional to temperature, and T_1 is hence directly proportional to temperature in most clinical MRI experiments. Temperature increases will hence result in longer T_1 , which will in turn result in lower signal intensity in the MR image as discussed in more detail in the Signal intensity and proton density-section.

The temperature sensitivity of T_1 will be detected both in quantitative T_1 -mapping methods and in the signal intensity magnitude of T_1 -weighted images. In this section we will focus on temperature measurements utilizing quantitative T_1 -mapping methods, and temperature measurements utilizing the effect of T_1 on the signal intensity will be discussed in the *Signal intensity and Proton density*-section, as there are many simultaneous effects contributing to the change in signal intensity with temperature.

 T_1 measurements and T_1 mapping were among the first methods to be investigated for MR temperature imaging in the early 1980s [11,12,148,149]. Over a rather small range of temperatures the temperature dependence of T_1 has been shown to be nearly linear according to

$$T_1(T) = T_1(T_{ref}) + m_1(T - T_{ref})$$
(9)

where T_{ref} is a known reference or starting temperature (e.g., body temperature, 37 °C) and $m_1 = dT_1/dT$ (i.e., change in T_1 with temperature, measured in ms/°C or %/°C). This can be re-arranged into



Fig. 9. Comparison of modeling errors in sagittal liver images of a healthy volunteer. (a) (top) A library image (sum-of-squares across coils) and (bottom) image phase for a single coil. The phase is smooth in the liver center, but varies rapidly near the ribs. The highlighted region in (a) is shown across library images in (b) to illustrate the up-down motion of the liver. (c) shows residual temperature errors and standard deviations after estimation with the three methods in eight subsequently acquired images. The hybrid model is more accurate than the other two methods in both the inner liver and over the liver/rib interface region. From "Hybrid referenceless and multibaseline subtraction MR thermometry for monitoring thermal therapies in moving organs" William A. Grissom, Viola Rieke, Andrew B. Holbrook, Yoav Medan, Michael Lustig, Juan Santos, Michael V. McConnell, and Kim Butts Pauly. Med. Phys. 37, 9, September 2010. Fig. 2. Reprinted with permission.

$$T = \frac{T_1(T) - T_1(T_{ref})}{m_1} + T_{ref}$$
(10)

so that if m_1 and the baseline values of T_{ref} and $T_1(T_{ref})$ are known, and $T_1(T)$ are being dynamically measured, the current temperature T can be calculated.

One challenge with utilizing T_1 -based MRTI in biological tissues is that m_1 is tissue type dependent due to the difference in macromolecular content and microstructure for different soft tissue types. This means a separate m_1 needs to be estimated and used for each tissue type of interest. The temperature dependence of T_1 is rather high and has been shown to be on the order of 1-3%/ °C, with slightly higher values reported for fat-based tissues than for water-based tissues [66,148,150–156]. For example, for bovine muscle values of 1.0-1.4%/°C has been reported [150,157], for liver 1-2%/°C [158], for cortical bone approximately 0.7-0.8%/°C [159], for breast fat 1.2-1.6%/°C [66,153], for porcine fat 2.0-2.5%/°C [152,157], for human brain approximately 0.5%/°C (white matter), 1.8%/°C (cortex) and 1.2%/°C (161]. An example of change in T_1 with temperature in cortical bone is seen in Fig. 12. It has further been shown that m_1 can vary significantly between different fatty



Fig. 10. Frequency spectral density, $J(\omega)$, as a function of resonance frequency, ω , for different correlation times, τ_c . The longitudinal relaxation time T_1 is proportional to the number of protons that are tumbling at the Larmor frequency, ω_0 . Pure water has a wide flat spectrum with relatively little energy around the Larmor frequency. This is also true for water molecules bound to large slow-moving macromolecules, which have a narrow spectrum. The largest contribution to T_1 come from water bound to intermediate-sized molecules. From Chapter 15 in Theory and Applications of Heat Transfer in Humans. Henrik Odéen and Dennis L Parker, Non-Invasive Thermometry with Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Devashish Shrivastava (Editor). John Wiley and Sons 2018. Reprinted with permission.



Fig. 11. The T_1 and T_2 relaxation times as a function of correlation time, τ_c . The area of operation for modern MRI scanners is indicated by the blue arrow. Here both T_1 and T_2 increases as a function of decreased correlation time, and hence both T_1 and T_2 increase as a function of increased temperature. From Chapter 15 in Theory and Applications of Heat Transfer in Humans. Henrik Odéen and Dennis L Parker, Non-Invasive Thermometry with Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Devashish Shrivastava (Editor). John Wiley and Sons 2018. Reprinted with permission.

acids. In animal fat it was found that methylene (CH₂) and terminal methyl (CH₃) had m_1 of 1.79%/°C and 2.98%/°C, respectively [151]. These differences can make the "total" m_1 for fat depend greatly on its composition of different acids. A second challenge with utilizing T_1 -based MRTI in the clinic is that T_1 depends on the macromolecular and hydration state of the tissue, both of which can change as tissue is heated.

In terms of pulse sequences many of the conventional and more accurate T₁-mapping methods, such as inversion- and saturation-recovery based methods, are very slow. This limits their usefulness for real-time applications such as MRTI in the clinic, especially for short ablative applications. These methods, which have scan times of ~4–8 minutes, have however been used for calibration studies to determine m_1 and for hyperthermia applications where scan times of a few minutes can be acceptable [148,154,157,162,163]. For ablative procedures, methods relying on just a few measurements, such as dual-TR spin echo or variable flip angle (VFA) gradient echo methods can be used [164–167]. In the VFA method, two or more magnitude images acquired at different flip-angles are acquired. By linearizing the signal equation, voxel-wise T_1 maps

can be determined. The method is sensitive to B_1 -field inhomogeneities and corrections using flip angle mapping should be applied, which can be time-consuming. By combining the VFA method with fast EPI readout, scan times of 8–15 s for MRTI based on T_1 maps have been obtained [66,152,153,163,168].

Temperature monitoring using the T_1 technique has predominantly been utilized for temperature measurements in adipose tissues because the PRF method provides higher precision for waterbased tissues. As mentioned above, the different m_1 values observed for different proton components of fat make T_1 -based techniques potentially patient-dependent. However, Baron et al. found only a small variation in the inter-sample variability in m_1 from adipose breast tissue from 7 different patients [154], suggesting a small inter-patient variability in fat composition and that a "universal" m_1 can be found and used for all patients. This will greatly improve the usefulness of T_1 -based thermometry in the clinic.

Just as for PRF and diffusion-based thermometry (see below), voxels with mixed water-fat content represent a problem in T_1 -based thermometry due to the differences in m_1 in the different tissue types. If only one tissue type is of interest, selective excitation or saturation can be utilized to alleviate the problem. If measurements from both tissues are needed, fat-water separation methods, such as Dixon or IDEAL [169], can be employed to provide accurate measurements in both tissue types separately. When combining the two temperature maps, care must be taken to account for the bandwidth-dependent fat-water shift occurring due to the ~3.5 ppm frequency difference between fat and water protons.

Changes in T_1 with temperature have been found to be reversible and repeatable for low temperature increases, up to an absolute temperature of at least 43 °C, in both water- and fat-based tissues. For higher temperature increases, tissue coagulation can result in irreversible changes in aqueous tissues [148,157,162,163,170]. Adipose tissues, on the other hand, have shown repeatable behavior for temperature increases up to absolute temperatures of 65 °C [154,157], highlighting the promise of using T_1 for temperature monitoring in fat-based tissues.

The use of T_1 to non-invasively monitor temperature changes is still an area of active research. Apart from measurements in adipose tissue, recent approaches have attempted to monitor temperature changes in bone [159] as well as to combine PRF and T_1 temperature measurements for simultaneous temperature monitoring in both water- and fat-based tissues [152,153].

2.3. Transverse (spin-spin) relaxation time, T₂

The physical mechanism behind the T_2 relaxation time is decorrelation and de-phasing of spins within an imaging voxel. For water protons, the local magnetic field experienced by a spin depends both on the partner hydrogen-proton in its water molecule, but also on spins in neighboring molecules. The local field will vary in time due to the random thermal motions of the molecules. Since $\omega = \gamma B_{loc}$, the time varying B_{loc} will result in time-dependent variations in the spins' precession rate, and hence result in a dephasing of the spin coherence within an imaging voxel. Since this loss of spin coherence is due to random thermal motions, it cannot be reversed.

As is the case for T_1 , T_2 also depends on the correlation time τ_c [12,145] but with a different relationship

$$\frac{1}{T_2} = \gamma^2 B_{loc}^2 \left(\tau_c + \frac{\tau_c}{1 + \omega_0^2 \tau_c^2} \right) \tag{11}$$

and so shorter τ_c results in longer T_2 , as schematically shown in Fig. 11 and experimentally in, e.g., reference [12]. In environments with few macromolecules, such as free water, spins are moving fast and are unrestricted, and will have a short τ_c . They will therefore



Fig. 12. T_1 based temperature measurements. a: T_1 maps in ex-vivo bovine cortical femur bone at temperatures of 25 °C (top) and 70 °C (bottom), overlaid on UTE images with flip angle = 8°. ROIs used to determine T_1 in each bone sample are denoted in purple in the upper image. (b–c): The mean T_1 and error bar from the ROI is shown over different temperatures for each bone sample. Linear regression lines during the heating and cooling periods are plotted as well. An apparent linear increase of T1 with temperature is demonstrated. From "Quantifying Temperature-Dependent T1 Changes in Cortical Bone Using Ultrashort Echo-Time MRI" Misung Han, Viola Rieke, Serena J. Scott, Eugene Ozhinsky, Vasant A. Salgaonkar, Peter D. Jones, Peder E. Z. Larson, Chris J. Diederich, and Roland Krug. Magn Reson Med. 2015 Dec; 74(6):1548–55. Fig. 2. Reprinted with permission.

have longer T_2 -values than water spins in tissue where the motion of the water molecules is restricted and the molecules move more slowly (i.e., longer τ_c resulting in shorter T_2 -values).

MR temperature measurements using T_2 have been studied since the early 1980s [149]. Just as for T_1 -based thermometry, T_2 -based temperature measurements also utilize a calibration factor, $m_2 = dT_2/dT$, and known baseline values for T_{ref} and $T_2(T_{ref})$ to estimate the temperature, T, by dynamically acquiring maps of $T_2(T)$, according to

$$T = \frac{T_2(T) - T_2(T_{ref})}{m_2} + T_{ref}$$
(12)

Historically T₂-based temperature measurements have not gained as much popularity as T_1 -based measurements, partly because slower spin echo-based methods generally are needed to measure T_2 . Gradient echo techniques (which are routinely used for PRF and T_1 based methods) measure T_2^* rather than T_2 , and T_2^* depends on multiple additional effects such as field inhomogeneity, which might affect the value and repeatability of m_2 measurements. Recently more studies using T_2 for MRTI measurements in adipose tissues have been published. Kuroda showed that just as for T_1 different proton components can have different temperature dependence m_2 , with CH₂ having values between 4 and 5%/°C, and CH₃ having values between 3 and 6%/°C, for bovine and porcine fat [151]. However, Baron et al. showed that just as for T_1 high subject-to-subject reproducibility in T_2 measurements could be achieved, highlighting the potential utility of T_2 -based temperature measurements [171]. Multiple studies have further shown that T_2 increases linearly and reversibly with temperature in the

range from 20 °C to approximately 50 °C of absolute temperature, and changes on the order of 5–7 ms/°C [154,171,172]. At higher absolute temperatures of 50–70 °C Baron et al. observed a non-linear increase in T_2 , however; still with a reversible change in T_2 as the tissue cooled back down to the initial temperature [171]. For accurate T_2 measurements it is important to saturate the signal from water protons that can be present interspersed with the fat. Since water and fat have different m_2 , and the relative abundance of each might vary spatially throughout the sample, it does not appear possible to accurately measure the change in T_2 from a mixed fat-water signal without knowing their relative concentrations and m_2 for both tissues.

 T_2 -based thermometry has recently been used in-vivo to monitor the temperature in subcutaneous fat during MR-guided focused ultrasound treatments of uterine fibroids [171,172]. The temperature monitoring not only improves safety by making it possible to stop the treatment if the tissue gets too hot but can also make the treatments more efficient by helping to minimizing the cooling time required between consecutive ultrasound sonications. An example of T₂-based MRTI in the subcutaneous adipose tissue layer during a high intensity focused ultrasound uterine fibroid treatment is shown in Fig. 13.

In terms of pulse sequences, most T_2 -based approaches utilize multi-echo spin echo type pulse sequences to measure the signal decay at multiple echo times. This is traditionally a rather slow technique with scan times in the order of minutes [154], but by combining the acquisition of just two echoes with fast turbo-spin echo readouts scan times of 15–16 s per image can be achieved [171,172]. T_2 -based MRTI is still an area of active research, and the higher temperature sensitivity of T_2 compared to T_1 makes it



Fig. 13. T₂-based temperature measurements. Example of a T₂ reference map with T₂ difference-based temperature overlay showing near-field heating in the subcutaneous adipose tissue layer after five consecutive volumetric sonications during a uterine fibroid treatment in a human patient. The intersection of the beam cone with the imaging slice during the latest sonication is shown as a solid circle. The sonications before that are shown as dotted circles. The time difference between the new T2 measurement and the reference T2 map is given. From "In Vivo T2-Based MR Thermometry in Adipose Tissue Layers for High-Intensity Focused Ultrasound Near-Field Monitoring" Paul Baron, Mario Ries, Roel Deckers, Martin de Greef, Jukka Tanttu, Max Köhler, Max A. Viergever, Chrit T. W. Moonen, and Lambertus W. Bartels. Magnetic Resonance in Medicine 72:1057–1064 (2014). Fig. 7. Reprinted with permission.

a promising candidate for temperature measurements in fat-based tissues.

2.4. Signal intensity and proton density

The equilibrium magnetization in MRI, M_0 , is determined by the Boltzmann distribution, which exhibits a temperature dependence. M_0 depends on the sample temperature according to [173–175]

$$M_0 \approx n \frac{\gamma^2 \hbar^2 |B|}{4kT} \tag{13}$$

where *n* is the number of spins, \hbar is the reduced Planck constant, *k* is the Boltzmann constant, and *T* is the absolute temperature of the sample. The temperature dependence is rather small and the fractional change in M_0 is

$$\frac{\Delta M_0}{\Delta T} \approx -n \frac{\gamma^2 \hbar^2 |B|}{4kT^2} \tag{14}$$

such that

$$\frac{\Delta M_0}{M_0} \approx -\frac{\Delta T}{T} \tag{15}$$

At room temperature of approximately 300 K a one-degree change in temperature will hence corresponds to ~0.3% fractional change in the magnetization M_0 [175].

The proton density (*PD*) in MRI can be estimated from the magnitude images by accounting for all confounding T_1 - and T_2 -effects. For example, long TRs of at least 5* T_1 should be utilized to minimize any T_1 -effects, resulting in long scan times. Using a shorter TR to speed up the acquisition can make it difficult to separate changes in *PD* from changes in T_1 . T_2 -effects can be eliminated by using, e.g., double-echo methods and estimating the signal at a TE of 0 ms [176]. It should be noted that the actual density of protons in the tissue does not change but it is rather the magnetic susceptibility, which reflects the ratio of spins parallel to spins antiparallel to the external field, which changes with temperature. The PD is further directly proportional to the magnetization M_0 and will hence experience the same temperature dependence of $\sim 0.3\%$ °C as M₀. Only a few studies have attempted to monitor temperature change using PD [175–177]. Kamimura et al. only performed studies on CuSO₄ solutions, and Young et al. performed in-vivo studies on human muscles, and therefore over relatively small temperature ranges. Chen et al. performed experiments in exvivo porcine muscle and abdominal fat. In the adipose tissue the apparent proton density (APD) was shown to change linearly at a rate of 0.29%/°C between 30 and 75 °C, in good agreement with theory according to the temperature dependence of the Boltzmann distribution. In muscle the change in APD was shown to be linear but non-reversible, with a larger APD observed during heating (approximately 0.40%/°C) than during cooling (approximately 0.28%/°C). In general APD measurements are very sensitive to low SNR, with a SNR of 100 needed for a precision of 3 °C [176].

Rather than attempting to control for all contributing temperature-dependent effects in measuring the (*A*)*PD*, MRI signal intensity, *SI*, can be measured. Measuring *SI* is more straightforward since accurate *SI* measurements can be performed without accounting for T_1 and T_2 effects, and instead SNR is usually the limiting factor. The measured *SI* depends on M_0 (and hence *PD*), but also on parameters such as the diffusion of protons and the T_1 and T_2 relaxation times. All these parameters have a temperature dependence of their own, which all contribute to the total temperature dependence of the *SI*. The *SI* further depends on imaging parameters such as the TR, TE, and flip angle. For a spoiled GRE sequence, e.g., the *SI* can be expressed as [52]

$$SI = M_0(T)sin(\alpha) \frac{1-E_1}{1-\cos(\alpha)E_1} E_2$$
(16)

where α is the flip angle, $E_1 = e^{-\frac{TR}{T_1(T)}}$, $E_2 = e^{-\frac{TE}{T_2(T)}}$, and $T_1(T)$ and $T_2(T)$ are the relaxation times at temperature *T*. This highlights the more complicated temperature dependence of the measured SI. An example of the change in SI with temperature during a focused ultrasound heating in a gelatin phantom can be seen in Fig. 14. Further, depending on the chosen values for TR, TE, and α , the acquired image is said to be, e.g., T_1 -weighted (T_1w) or T_2 weighted (T_2w) , both of which have been used to monitor thermal therapies. As described above the exact temperature dependence of the SI, dSI/dT, can be complicated since it depends on the amount of the different weightings which in turn depends on multiple parameters with their own temperature dependence. The temperature dependence of each of these parameters can also change depending on tissue state; e.g., T_1 of liver has been described to initially increase with temperature, but to decrease after thermal coagulation occurs [178]. It has also been shown that the magnitude of dSI/dT depends on the amount of weighting in the acquired image. In T_1w images, for example, Gellermann et al. observed a change of $\sim 1\%/^{\circ}$ C when using a TE = 5 ms, but in images with less T_1w (using TE = 20 ms) only a change of $\sim 0.75\%$ /°C was observed [99]. Both T_1 and T_1 change per °C increase with increasing B_0 field strengths but the observed T_1 contrast decreases [149,179], resulting in the reduced temperature sensitivity [99]. Because of these challenges, temperature mapping based on T_1w images may be more suitable at low B_0 field strengths which has higher contrast and sensitivity. Non-linear effects in dSI/dT in T_1w images have also been observed, particularly in conjunction with tissue coagulation [170,178,180,181]. This is likely explained by temperaturedependent changes in exchange processes and effective tumbling rates of water. Both T_1w and T_2w images have been used for quantitative and qualitative MRTI measurements [150,158,170,178,181-185]. In quantitative studies values of dSI/dT have been reported in the range of 0.7-1.0 %/°C in liver, 0.97%/°C in fat, 0.7-1.0%/°C in cortical bone, and 1.0%/°C in muscle.

2.5. Magnetization transfer

Protons bound to macromolecules are in general hard to image with MRI due to their very short T_2 and T_2^* relaxation times. There do, however, exist exchange processes between protons bound to macromolecules and those in the "free" proton pool, mainly water. These exchanges can happen in two different ways; first the magnetization from the macromolecule-bound protons can be transferred to protons in the "free" proton pool. Second, the protons



Fig. 14. Two orthogonal views of a cylindrical gelatin phantom showing decreased signal intensity in the magnitude image during focused ultrasound heating. The signal intensity decreases with approximately dSI/dT = -1.1%/°C due to decrease in the magnetization and changes in the T₁ and T₂ relaxation times. From Chapter 15 in Theory and Applications of Heat Transfer in Humans. Henrik Odéen and Dennis L Parker, Non-Invasive Thermometry with Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Devashish Shrivastava (Editor). John Wiley and Sons 2018. Reprinted with permission.

themselves can enter the "free" pool of protons [186]. In magnetization transfer methods off-resonance spectrally selective RF pulses are utilized to selectively excite and saturate the magnetization which is associated with large macromolecules. If a spectrally selective RF pulse is applied, saturating the macromolecules, the exchange of saturated magnetization from the macromolecules with unsaturated free water causes a decrease in the detectable MR signal [170,175,180]. Although these exchange processes are temperature-dependent and can potentially be used for relative temperature measurements, the sensitivity is rather low, and has been shown to be fairly tissue type dependent. For example, fat, liver, and white matter have been shown not to display any change in MT-weighted signal with temperature, whereas prostate, heart, and muscle showed increases in MT-weighted signal above approximately 50 °C [170]. Due to the low sensitivity and tissue type dependent signal change, magnetization transfer based methods have not gained much popularity as a temperature measurement technique.

2.6. Diffusion

The temperature dependence of molecular diffusion can be derived from the basis of the Stokes-Einstein relation between viscosity and the translational self-diffusion coefficient, *D*, as

$$D \approx e^{-E_a(D)/kT} \tag{17}$$

where E_a is the activation energy for translational molecular diffusion, k is the Boltzmann constant, and T is the absolute tissue temperature [187,188]. In general the un-restricted random thermal molecular motion is a stochastic thermal phenomenon described by Brownian motion, and results in a Gaussian distribution of displacements. However, the diffusion of water molecules in biological tissues is influenced by macromolecules. cell membranes and other cellular and subcellular structures resulting in restricted diffusion. These structures can greatly affect the diffusion of water molecules, and, for example, water in the intracellular space, which has a higher concentration of macromolecules, experiences less diffusion than water molecules in the extracellular space. In general, in the presence of macromolecules and tissue structures such as muscle fibers and white matter tracks, water diffusion is not symmetric but can vary greatly with directionality, resulting in what is known as diffusion anisotropy. However, because the diffusion tensor is symmetric, there are in fact only 6 independent coefficients.

Diffusion imaging in MRI is based on the application of strong, usually dual-lobe, diffusion gradients. Spins moving along the direction of the applied gradient experience a net phase-dispersion, resulting in signal attenuation, whereas stationary spins do not. This phase dispersion results in signal attenuation. The amount of signal loss is related to the displacement distribution of the spins and the applied gradients and can be described as e^{-bD} . *b* is called the b-value and describes the magnitude and duration of the applied diffusion gradients according to $b = -\gamma^2 G^2 \delta^2 (\Delta - \delta/3)$, where *G* is the gradient amplitude, δ the gradient duration, and Δ the separation of the two gradient lobes [52]. The application of higher amplitude and/or longer duration diffusion gradients results in more phase dispersal and signal loss.

There are several different approaches to diffusion imaging, of varying complexity. In simple diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) a single b-value is usually used and the image intensity of each voxel is weighted by the average diffusion coefficient in that voxel. Quantitative diffusion coefficient mapping is based on acquiring at least 2 DWI images with different b-values, and post-processing yields a quantitative map of diffusion coefficients. Since the measured diffusion may be affected by a number of factors, including cellular structures and boundaries, as well as tissue perfusion, this is often called the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC). The effects of perfusion can to some degree be compensated for by the choice of b-values [102]. Lastly, diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) measures the diffusion anisotropy and requires at least a set of 6 independent DW-images. Apart from SNR advantages at high field strengths, MRTI based on diffusion is independent of the field strength.

Temperature changes will result in viscosity and diffusion changes which can be investigated by differentiating the above equation. Differentiation and normalization gives

$$\frac{dD}{DdT} = \frac{E_a(D)}{kT^2} \tag{18}$$

which can be re-arranged as

$$\Delta T = T - T_{ref} = \frac{kT_{ref}^2}{E_a(D)} \left(\frac{D - D_{ref}}{D_{ref}}\right)$$
(19)

Here D_{ref} is the diffusion constant measured at some known reference temperature T_{ref} , and D is the dynamically acquired diffusion constant at the current tissue temperature T. In this expression it is assumed that the temperature dependence of the activation energy E_a is small (i.e., that it is approximately constant with temperature) and that the total change in tissue temperature is also limited, i.e., $\Delta T \ll T_{ref}$.

The in-vivo temperature sensitivity of diffusion has been shown to be relatively high. With an activation energy of approximately 0.2 eV at 20 °C [188], a sensitivity in the range of 2.0–2.5 %/°C is achieved from equation 19 [20,189,190]. However, temperature measurements using the diffusion method have not gained substantial popularity due to various practical difficulties in its application. First and foremost, diffusion imaging is very sensitive to both physiological and bulk patient motion. This can be realized since the diffusion distances which are encoded are on the order of tens of μ m [52]. In general diffusion imaging is rather slow, on the order of minutes, and hence not well suited for real-time applications. However, faster imaging using, e.g., EPI readout have been described to speed up the acquisitions, resulting in scan times down to 2 s for a single 2D DWI slice [100,191,192]. These faster imaging protocols are also inherently less sensitive to motion.

Diffusion imaging is sensitive to tissue changes such as altered membrane permeability, treatment induced edema, irreversible tissue necrosis and coagulation, and reversible ischemia [170]. These effects can alter the diffusion pathways, which in turn can greatly affect the measured diffusion values. This can further result in competing effects on the diffusion. For example, diffusion increases due to change in temperature but has also been shown to decrease by up to 40% due to ischemia [193], in part due to cell swelling. Just as in PRF phase mapping, adipose tissues are a concern in diffusion imaging. Diffusion in adipose tissues is very low and hence hard to measure. The adipose tissues should therefore be suppressed to avoid partial volume effects, resulting in underestimation of the measured diffusion from the water signal. Temperature imaging based on diffusion can also be affected by temperature gradients in a voxel, which results in spatially varying PRF inside the voxel. This will cause phase dispersion, which can be interpreted as a diffusion change, and the effect can be exaggerated due to the usually long TE values used in diffusion imaging. This effect can be reduced using high spatial resolution in gradient echo imaging or the effect can be avoided using spin echo pulse sequences. Despite these challenges both DWI and ADC have been used to monitor relative temperature change [20,100,156,170,189-192,194,195]. It should be noted that methods relying on basic DWI, where changes in the DW signal intensity are utilized, will depend on signal changes due to other effects such changes in T₁ and T_2 as described in the Signal Intensity and Proton Density-section.

Absolute temperature measurements of in-vivo cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) have recently been described using DWI [196–199]. A reference image, S_0 , with b-value 0 s/mm², as well as multiple diffusion weighted images, S_1 , with between 12 and 32 independent diffusion directions and b-values between 700 and 1000 s/mm² were used. Using single-shot EPI pulse sequences scan times between 2 and 6 min were achieved. The diffusion coefficient D_i was calculated as

$$D_i = \frac{\ln(S_0/S_1)}{b} \tag{20}$$

and the corresponding temperature was calculated as [198,200]

$$T_i = \frac{2256.74}{\ln\left(\frac{4.39221}{D_i}\right)} - 273.15 \tag{21}$$

where T_i is the temperature in °C. An example of CSF temperature measurements in the lateral ventricles of a human volunteer is shown in Fig. 15. The absolute temperature measurements work because of the similarity of CSF macromolecular content between subjects and the resulting relative subject independence of the activation energy in CSF.

2.7. Spectroscopic approaches

MR spectroscopy-based temperature measurement methods are based on the concept that the separation of peaks from different tissue components in a frequency spectrum is a function of temperature. As opposed to the previously described methods which measure relative temperature (i.e., a temperature change), spectroscopic temperature measurement methods measure absolute temperature. In proton spectroscopy, which just like PRF phase mapping utilizes the temperature induced water proton chemical shift, the water resonance peak changes with temperature while a reference peak (e.g., lipid or N-acetyl-aspartate in the brain [93,201]) does not. Having an internal reference removes the need to compare to a reference image, and hence makes spectroscopic imaging measurements inherently less sensitive to motion and drift in the magnetic field [201,202]. When lipids and water are uniformly distributed within a voxel, their frequency peak separation is proportional to the absolute temperature. Because spectroscopic imaging adds another dimension to the image, it is generally slow and relatively low resolution is achieved. Multiple different spectroscopy approaches have been utilized for thermometry, such as single voxel spectroscopy [201,203,204], magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging (MRSI) [22,205-207], echo planar spectroscopic imaging (EPSI) [206], and line scan echo planar spectroscopic imaging (LSEPSI) [207,208]. Spatial resolution on the order of 3-4 mm and temporal resolution of about 1 min have been demonstrated [206–209]. This makes spectroscopic imaging too slow for real time temperature control except for treatments with slow temperature changes. It does, however, provide a unique tool for potentially absolute temperature measurements, which is not possible with previously mentioned methods. It should be noted that spectroscopic methods can be sensitive to intravoxel field inhomogeneities, which can affect the spectral widths and make it difficult to determine the peak positions. This effect can be alleviated by increasing the spatial resolution (acquiring smaller voxels), at the cost of SNR and/or scan time. High field scanners (>1.5 T) with good temporal stability and spatial homogeneity may be needed to reliably detect some of the small metabolic signals used for the internal references. Complex post-processing steps are also usually necessary and can include modeling of the induced eddy currents and peak fitting



Fig. 15. Estimating CSF temperature in the lateral ventricles of a human volunteer using. (a) Uncorrected temperature map showing artificially high temperatures within the lateral ventricles because of outliers and artificially low temperature estimates for brain tissue due to restricted diffusion. (b) Display of all the 32 diffusion constant estimates from six representative voxels (marked with white squares in (a). The asterisks represent the nine directions found to be least prone to artefacts. (c) Temperature map where only the directions marked on panel (b) were averaged for each voxel within the lateral ventricles. The mean estimated temperature within the lateral ventricles is 37.9 °C in this slice. From "Using diffusion MRI for measuring the temperature of cerebrospinal fluid within the lateral ventricles" LR Kozak, M Bango, M Szabo, et al. Acta Paediatrica 2010 99, pp. 237–243. Fig. 2. Reprinted with permission.

using dedicated functions. Also, although the internal reference technique removes the need for subtraction of a reference image the methods still need to be calibrated, since the absolute value of chemical shift difference between the water signal and the reference signal may depend on tissue location and parameters such as pH and ion concentration. In two in-vivo studies measuring the absolute temperature in the human brain, for example, calibrations were performed using invasive probes in porcine brains and using tympanic temperature readings [201,210].

2.8. Temperature sensitive contrast agents

One major challenge with the majority of the previously described methods is that they only measure a relative temperature change, as opposed to the absolute tissue temperature. Alleviating this limitation is one of the main advantages with using various types of temperature sensitive contrast agents, and this approach has been investigated since the mid- to late-1990s. The described methods make use of various paramagnetic thermosensitive liposomes, paramagnetic lanthanide complexes, and spin transition molecular materials.

Thermosensitive liposomes (TSL) were first introduced by Yatvin et al. in the late 1970s. They showed that locally a 100:1 increase in drug release could be achieved during hyperthermia conditions in-vitro by increasing the temperature from 37 to 44 °C [211]. TSL contains a phospholipid membrane which exhibits a distinct gel-to-liquid crystalline phase transition temperature, T_m . Below T_m the liposomes do not allow water exchange through the membrane. At the phase transition temperature, the phospholipid membrane exhibits a phase-change from a gel phase to a liquid crystalline phase, which results in greatly increased transmembrane permeability. For MRTI, TSLs with entrapped paramagnetic molecules, such as manganese- (Mn) or gadolinium (Gd)based compounds, are usually used. Below T_m the paramagnetic agents do not affect the tissue relaxation times due to the low water exchange rate through the membrane. When the tissue temperature rises above T_m the tissue water relaxation is affected both by the release of the entrapped paramagnetic materials across the membrane and due to increased water exchange (similar to magnetization transfer effects described above). The effect on T₁ relaxation by the paramagnetic TSL depends on concentration and intrinsic relaxivity of the entrapped paramagnetic agent, composition of the membrane, size of the liposome (where smaller liposomes can cause shorter T₁ due to the greater ratio of surface area to volume which increases the water flux across the liposomal

membrane [212]), if the paramagnetic molecules are located in the lipid membrane or in the aqueous space, and the binding probability [213,214]. Increased T₁ relaxivities have been shown by membrane surface modifications using polyethyleneglycol (PEG) [215,216]. Trubetskoy et al. showed an approximately twice as high T₁ relaxivity of PEG-modified Gd-labelled liposomes [215]. One major limitation of TSL is that they do not allow continuous temperature measurement, but rather just an absolute measurement at the specific T_m . T_m can be adjusted by altering the length and amount of saturation of the hydrocarbon chain, where increasing the length results in increased transition temperature due to the increase of Van der Waal's forces. Gd-based paramagnetic TSL have been demonstrated both in-vitro and in-vivo. Fossheim et al. utilized liposomally-entrapped Gd-HP-DO3A and demonstrated significantly increased T_1 relaxivity at T_m values of 41 and 50 °C [217]. In gel phantoms it was further shown that inducing a heating from 22 to 65 °C resulted in a 1.4-3.0-fold increase in T_1 relaxivity after the temperature exceeded the T_m , which was ~42 °C. McDannold et al. further investigated Gd-based TSL invivo in rabbit liver and kidney [218]. The TSL had a T_m of ~57 °C to monitor focused ultrasound induced ablations. In liver tissue signal intensity increases were seen in all sonication locations (except in necrotic and poorly perfused tumor centers) and agreed well with 57 °C isotherms. In kidneys the enhanced zones were smaller than expected and surrounded by hypo-intense signal this was explained by wash out of the contrast agent due to the persisting blood flow in the kidney. TSL encapsulating free manganese ions (Mn^{2+}), in addition to doxorubicin (DOX), with a T_m of 39.5-40.0 °C have also been investigated and show promising results [219,220]. In general, further (in-vivo) studies investigating dose, pharmacokinetics and toxicity are needed before TSL can be used clinically.

Various paramagnetic lanthanide complexes have been shown to experience a considerably higher temperature sensitivity than protons imaged in the standard phase-mapping PRF technique discussed above [221]. The chemical shifts observed in the paramagnetic lanthanide complexes exhibit strong temperature dependence because of large hyperfine paramagnetic interactions [222], and the chemical shift has been shown to be up to 300 times larger than for protons in H₂O. These approaches are of particular interest for applications where small temperature changes are measured, such as in hyperthermia or when monitoring heating induced by the MRI RF coils [223], where high accuracy and resolution are needed. In general, the ideal lanthanide complex should have a highly temperature sensitive chemical shift, rather short T_1 relaxation so that it can be imaged efficiently, chemically inert invivo, and capable of providing absolute temperature measurements.

Some early studies used MR spectroscopy together with Pr-MOE-DO3A, exploiting the temperature sensitivity influence of Pr of the ¹H spectrum [224,225]. A temperature sensitivity of approximately 0.12-0.13 ppm/°C was found. Other early studies investigated the thulium-based complex TmDOTP⁵⁻ which was shown to have a chemical shift of 0.89 ppm/°C for ¹H and 2.18 ppm/°C for ${}^{31}P$ (corresponding to frequency shifts of \sim 57 Hz/°C for both at 1.5 T, compared to \sim 0.7 Hz/°C for the ¹H in water used in standard PRF), and be stable over a temperature range of 4 to 50 °C [222,226]. It was further shown that in-vivo toxicity was low and that high enough concentrations can be safely used [227-229], and that short T₁ values due to dipolar interactions between ¹H and ³¹P enabled relatively fast scans. The main drawback of TmDOTP⁵⁻ is that it was shown to produces a slight drop in blood pressure in animal studies, making it ill-suited for in-vivo human studies [229,230]. It was further shown that the chemical shift depended strongly on pH [231] and Ca²⁺ [222,226]. Despite these challenges in-vivo results in rat brains have been shown [231].

To resolve the problems with drop in blood pressure, and the pH and Ca²⁺ sensitivity of TmDOTP⁵⁻, alternative lanthanide complexes have been investigated. To take advantage of the large temperature sensitivity of Tm³⁺, and proven safety of the commonly used MRI contrast GdDOTA- (which itself is unsuitable for MRTI since Gd³⁺ is a very efficient relaxation agent and signals from its complexes are hence challenging to image), TmDOTA- has been investigated [232,233]. Because of its similarity in molecular structure to GdDOTA⁻, TmDOTA⁻ is believed to have a similar toxicity. The temperature sensitivity of TmDOTA⁻ has been shown to be approximately 100 times that of water protons. The chemical shifts of its protons are hundreds of ppm away from that of water protons, and it is insensitive to pH and Ca²⁺. However, all the proton signals show very short T₂ values, which is challenging because it broadens the linewidth and reduces the accuracy in measuring chemical shifts. Pulse sequences with short TE values are also needed to sample the signal. In animal studies doses of approximately 1–2 mmoL/kg have normally been used [233].

To achieve narrower line widths Hekmatyar et al. investigated Pr³⁺, Yb³⁺, Tb³⁺, Dy³⁺, and Tm³⁺ complexes of DOTMA⁴⁻ (i.e., the methyl-substituted analogue of DOTA⁴⁻) since it has 12 magnetically equivalent methyl protons, which provide an intense and sharper resonance compared to corresponding DOTA⁻ complexes [234]. The narrower linewidth also results in longer T_2 values, so it is easier to image, and a four-fold increase in SNR compared to DOTA⁴⁻ was observed [234]. It was found that TmDOTMA⁻, which is \sim 60 times more sensitive to temperature than the water ¹H shift and is insensitive to changes in pH and Ca²⁺, was the most favorable option. The chemical shifts are approximately 100 ppm away from the water signal, so selective imaging free of water signal can be relatively easily achieved with frequency selective RF pulses. TmDOTMA⁻ has also been shown to be insensitive to complex concentration and to a large extent to inhomogeneities in the main magnetic field [234,235]. Absolute MRTI using TmDOTMA⁻ has been demonstrated in-vivo in rats and in a mouse tumor model [234–236]. Spatial resolution up to 1 mm isotropic was achieved in a 3 min scan time, with temperature precision of approximately 0.1–0.3 °C [235.236], as shown in Fig. 16.

Overall, MRTI methods based on hyperfine-shifted MR signals from paramagnetic lanthanide complexes appear promising and have been shown in-vivo for animal experiments. Further studies relating to toxicity, acceptable dose and signal-to-noise ratio are necessary before human clinical use.

Instead of directly measure the signal from the paramagnetic lanthanide complex, the change in water signal intensity as a results of chemical exchange saturation transfer (CEST) can be measured. Since paramagnetic agents are used the method is often referred to as PARACEST. Due to the large chemical shift between water and the complex used, the signal from the complex can easily be saturated by frequency selected RF pulses. Because the exchange rate between the saturated complex and the water is directly proportional to temperature via the Arrhenius-equation, $k = e^{-E_a/R_gT}$ where k is the rate coefficient, E_a is the activation energy, R_{g} is the universal gas constant, and T is the temperature, the temperature can be determined if the agent concentration is known. However, this is not usually the case for in-vivo applications, and CEST-based methods have not gained much popularity. Zhang et al. described a method acquiring a series of images with different frequency-selective saturation pulses covering the resonance frequency of the complex, and using the frequency offset which caused the lowest signal to determine the temperature change [237]. This removes the constraint on knowing the concentration of the complex, but it is rather slow (on the order of minutes).

Spin transition molecular materials are based on a direct temperature-sensitive transition from a diamagnetic spin S = 0 state to a paramagnetic S = 2 state, where the transition temperature is determined by the chemical composition of the molecular complex. These methods have so far only been demonstrated invitro [238]. For further in-vivo use, non-toxicity needs to be evaluated and the transition temperature has to be adjustable and evaluated for individual applications.

2.9. Intermolecular multiple quantum coherences

As discussed in the PRF section above, MRTI in fat-based tissues is challenging because of the very small chemical shift dependence of fat protons (0.00018 ppm/°C [59]) as well as the relatively large susceptibility change with temperature (0.0094 ppm/°C [76,77]) which can affect the resonance frequency of the nearby water spins. To address these challenges MRTI based on intermolecular multiple quantum coherence (iMOC) was developed [239–241]. iMOC is a lesser known type of MR signal which arises from the simultaneous transition of two spins on separate molecules. The two most commonly used types of iMQC are intermolecular zero quantum coherences (iZQCs) and intermolecular double quantum coherences (iDQCs), which both can be utilized for MRTI. In iZQC two or more spins are simultaneously flipped in opposite directions, whereas in iDQC two spins are flipped in the same direction. The resonance frequency of concern in iZQC is the difference in the resonance frequency between the spins, which in the case of MRTI is a fat spin and a water spin. The two spins are separated by a tunable distance, often called the "correlation distance", which is on the order of $10-100 \,\mu\text{m}$. The iZQC peaks are therefore narrow because contributions from magnetic susceptibility and field inhomogeneities act on a scale which is at least an order of magnitude smaller than the typical MRI voxel size.

While the iMQC method of MRTI can seem similar to the PRF methods, it should be noted that rather than looking at changes in the absolute resonance frequency, the iMQC method relies on changes in the difference between the chemical shift of a water spin and a nearby fat spin, as stated above. This is what makes the method insensitive to the effects of magnetic field inhomogeneities, susceptibility gradients and magnetic field drift. The method is further less sensitive to physiological motion than, e.g., the phase-mapping PRF method because the resonance frequency difference is more likely to remain constant as the two spins are in close proximity and move together. By looking at changes in the difference between the chemical shift of a water spin and a nearby fat spin, the iMQC method can also produces absolute temperature maps.



Fig. 16. In-vivo thermometry in rat using TmDORMA⁻. Representative coronal slices from 3D ¹H MRI of water (a). Heart and liver labeled H and L, respectively. Methyl signal from TmDOTMA⁻ (b) and temperature change maps computed from the phase shift in TmDOTMA⁻ images as the rectal temperature changed from 35.7 to 36.4 (c), 37.1 (d), 37.6 (e) and 38.1 (f) °C. The TmDOTMA⁻ dose was 0.61 mmol/kg body weight and the total imaging time was ~3 min. From "Non-invasive temperature imaging with thulium 1,4,7, 10-tetraacacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraamethyl-1,4,7, 10-tetraacetic acid (TmDOTMA-)" Sait Kubilay Pakin, S. K. Hekmatyar, Paige Hopewell, Andriy Babsky and Navin Bansal. NMR Biomed. 2006;19:116–124. Fig. 4. Reprinted with permission.

The pulse sequence commonly used for iMQC MRTI is named HOT, and is based on the previously described HOMOGENIZED sequence [242]. It uses a combination of iZQCs and iDQCs, and suppresses unwanted coherence pathways from unwanted temperature-insensitive same-spin iMQCs and inter-molecular single quantum coherences (iSQCs). The HOT sequence acquires two separate echoes where the phase difference gives the absolute measure of temperature.

Challenges with the iMQC methods involve the need for both water and fat to be present in close proximity, something that is not always the case in-vivo. The signal from the HOT sequence scales as the product of the water and fat magnetization, so it is highest when there are comparable amounts of both species within the correlation distance. For anatomies with compartmentalized fat and water the iMQC method will only be able to detect temperature in the interfaces between the compartments, which greatly diminishes its usefulness. The SNR of iMQC pulse sequences in general, and also the HOT sequence, is further only about 10% of the SNR observed in standard imaging sequences. However, a multispin echo spatial encoding scheme has been presented which partly alleviates this constraint, improving the SNR by up to a factor of three [243]. The HOT sequence also includes more RF pulses (to selectively only preserve the iZQC and iDQC used for the MRTI) than other iMQC pulse sequences, making it sensitive to flip angle errors and pulse imperfections, which in turn can further reduce the signal intensity. Since the frequency measured by the HOT pulse sequence is the difference between the water and fat resonances, and fat is made up of many different resonance frequencies, the detected HOT signal will be a (weighted) average of the difference in resonance frequency between the water and the different fat components. This will potentially result in different frequency shifts between different tissues, since they can have different fat compositions.

Despite these challenges promising ex-vivo results in porcine red bone marrow [243,244] and in-vivo results in an obese mouse model have been shown [239]. Accurate absolute temperature maps were achieved over rather small FOV (3–4 cm) with a scan time on the order of minutes. While the low spatial and temporal resolution currently limits the usefulness of iMQC MRTI for ablative therapies, its resiliency to magnetic susceptibility, field drift and inhomogeneities, and ability to measure absolute temperatures makes it an intriguing approach for hyperthermia therapies.

2.10. Combined methods

Various combination methods where multiple temperature sensitive MR parameters are measured simultaneously or interleaved have been described. Most commonly has been to combine PRF with T_1 measurements, but combinations of PRF with diffusion, $T_2(*)$, and SI has also been described.

Das et al. were among the first to present a combination method, combining PRF and ADC imaging [245]. The PRF images provide high spatial resolution and low-noise characteristics, whereas the water ADC images provide phase-drift correction. The method was demonstrated in tissue mimicking gel where PRF and ADC imaging were interleaved with a combined scan time of approximately 33 s (9 s for PRF and 24 s for ADC). The relatively long scan time makes the approach most interesting for slower heating such as in hyperthermia applications.

Multiple recent studies have combined PRF and T_1 measurements. Bos et al. simultaneously measured PRF and T_1 using a segmented Look-Locker EPI-sequence, where the relaxivity values

were obtained from the magnitude image and PRF measurements were derived from the phase information from all signal samples [246]. The method was demonstrated in RF-heating of a phantom with thermosensitive liposomes containing a paramagnetic contrast agent. An increase of liposome permeability close to the phase transition temperature was demonstrated by the relaxivity measurements at the same time as the temperature change was measured using PRF. An interleaved approach to PRF-T₁ measurements where an Inversion Recovery Look-Locker sequence for T₁ measurements was interleaved with standard GRE PRF measurements was recently demonstrated in-vivo in a rat model during HIFUinduced hyperthermia by Kneepkens et al. [247]. T₁ maps (single slice, used to determine doxorubicin concentration which was co-encapsulated with a paramagnetic MR contrast agent inside TSL), were achieved every 2 min and PRF measurements (two orthogonal slices) were achieved every 8.6 s. Multiple studies have also combined the VFA method for fast, dynamic T₁ mapping with regular PRF to simultaneously monitor temperature in adipose (using T_1) and aqueous (using PRF) tissues [66,78,152,153, 163,168]. The method has been demonstrated using both singleand multi-echo GRE (where the multiple echoes are combined for improved temperature measurement precision) [153,168] and EPI approaches for faster or volumetric 3D measurements [66,152]. An example using DFA GRE for simultaneous temperature mapping in a pork-breast fat sample during HIFU heating is shown in Fig. 17. In ex-vivo tissues Hey et al. reported temperature accuracies of 2.5 °C for T₁-based thermometry in fat and 1.2 °C for PRF in muscle with scan times of 4.6 and 1.2 s for fat and muscle, respectively [152]. In-vivo, Todd et al. reported PRF temperature precision of 1.0 °C (with $1.3 \times 1.3 \times 3.5 \mbox{ mm}$ spatial resolution and 1.9 s temporal resolution), and T_1 measurements with 2.5-4.8% precision (with $3.8 \times 3.8 \times 3.5$ mm resolution and 3.8 s temporal resolution) [168]. Challenges with combined PRF-T₁ measurements include the validity of the assumed signal equation when using short TRs or if the acquisition is not adequately spoiled, non-uniform flip angle over the sample due to B₁ inhomogeneities, and the fact that the VFA approach assumes that T₁, T^{*}₂, and M₀ remains constant over the measurement [153,248]. The effect of these various sources of error was investigated in detail by Todd et al. [153].

Recent studies have also demonstrated that PRF can be measured either simultaneously with T_2^* or interleaved with T_2 measurements. Svedin et al. presented a GRE multi-echo radial stackof-stars approach where each individual echo gives a PRF measurement, and the T_2^* decay curve can be fitted from the multiple echoes [36]. Keupp et al. used the same interleaving-framework as Kneepkens et al. [247] to achieve GRE-based PRF measurements and dual spin-echo-based T₂ measurements, for simultaneous thermometry in muscle and fat [249]. Finally, Ramsey et al. have presented an approach where PRF is used to measure temperature change in soft tissue simultaneously with SI-based thermometry in cortical bone from ex-vivo beef shanks, using a dual-echo GRE pulse sequence [185]. The first echo with TE of 1.04 ms was used to detect SI-changes in the bone, whereas the second echo with a longer TE of 6-15 ms was used for better PRF precision in soft tissue.

3. Discussion and conclusions

MR thermometry is in general mature and widely available, and is one of the factors contributing to the wider availability of many thermal therapies. The most used MR thermometry method is the PRF method thanks to its excellent linearity with tissue temperature, high sensitivity, relative tissue type independence, and



Fig. 17. Simultaneous MRTI during HIFU heating in a pork and breast fat sample. (a) and (b) Three-point Dixon images showing the water and fat contents of the pork and breast tissue samples. (c) PRF temperature map showing temperature changes in the pork muscle but not in the breast fat, as expected. (d) Combined PRF/T₁ temperature map overlaid on the magnitude image where the calculated T₁ change has been converted to temperature using 1.4%/°C. From Hybrid proton resonance frequency/T1 technique for simultaneous temperature monitoring in adipose and aqueous tissues. Todd N, Diakite M, Payne A, Parker DL. Magn Reson Med. 2013 Jan;69(1):62–70. Fig. 6. Reprinted with permission.

because it can be performed with simple and very widely available spoiled GRE pulse sequences. Fast imaging approaches, such as EPI and parallel imaging, and dedicated reconstruction approaches, such as referenceless and multi-baseline methods, have alleviated many of the issues with motion. Challenges still remain in terms of providing real time availability of the measurements when more advanced acquisition (such as non-Cartesian) and reconstruction (such as compressed sensing and model-based approaches) are used. Another challenge with the PRF method is its insensitivity to temperature changes in adipose tissues, and the related susceptibility changes that occur when adipose tissues change temperature. For environments with lower B₀-field homogeneity, such as around invasive devices, spin echo pulse sequences might be better suited. In these cases, T1-, T2-, or diffusion-based MRTI can offer viable and attractive approaches. If strong gradients are available diffusion-based approaches can offer high sensitivity, but if tissue motion is a concern T₁- or T₂-based methods are likely better options. The various contrast agent-based approaches which have been investigated are interesting if absolute temperatures are needed, but often just provide an indication for when a specific pre-determined temperature is reached. An alternative for absolute temperature measurements is spectroscopic approaches, but due to generally low spatial and temporal resolution these methods are likely best suited for slow and diffuse heating such as commonly seen in hyperthermia. It should be noted that absolute temperature measurements are potentially a very powerful diagnostic tool to, for example, detect increased temperatures associated with increased tissue metabolism. Finally, unresolved general challenges with MRTI includes fast and reliable measurements in adipose tissues, although promising results using T₁and T₂-based methods have recently been presented. The susceptibility effects related to temperature change in adipose tissue affecting measurement accuracy in aqueous tissues pose an additional challenge for treatments in, for example, the breast and abdominal regions. Reliable measurements in moving organs, such as liver, kidney and the heart, are still challenging, especially when volumetric information is desirable. In general, real time reconstruction of large volumetric measurements, for example, covering the full head in transcranial FUS applications, is not currently available.

Declaration of interest

None.

References

- K.F. Chu, D.E. Dupuy, Thermal ablation of tumours: Biological mechanisms and advances in therapy, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 14 (2014) 199–208, https://doi. org/10.1038/nrc3672.
- [2] L.P. Panych, B. Madore, The physics of MRI safety, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 47 (2018) 28–43, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.25761.
- [3] F.G. Shellock, Radiofrequency energy-induced heating during MR procedures: a review, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 12 (2000) 30–36.
- [4] M.A. Hall-craggs, S. Smart, A. Gillams, Thermal therapies in the body monitored by MRI, Encycl. Magn. Reson. (2007) 1–8, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/9780470034590.emrstm0559.
- [5] D.R. Hamilton, Y. Anzai, K.L. Black, K. Farahani, R.B. Lufkin, Therapy monitoring by MRI, Encycl. Magn. Reson. 9 (2007) 1–6, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/9780470034590.emrstm0558.
- [6] D. Norris, Safety considerations in MRI, EMagRes (2007), https://doi.org/ 10.1002/9780470034590.emrstm1230.
- [7] J.F. Schenck, Safety and sensory aspects of main and gradient fields in MRI, EMagRes 2 (2013) 55–66, https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470034590. emrstm1324.
- [8] S. Ahmed, F.G. Shellock, Magnetic resonance imaging safety: implications for cardiovascular patients, J. Cardiovasc. Magn. Reson. 3 (2001) 171–182.
- [9] F.G. Shellock, J.V. Crues, M.R. Procedures, Biologic effects, safety, and patient care, Radiology 232 (2004) 635–652, https://doi.org/10.1148/ radiol.2323030830.

- [10] F.G. Shellock, Bioeffects and safety of radiofrequency electromagnetic fields, EMagRes (2007), https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470034590.emrstm0025.
- [11] D.L. Parker, V. Smith, P. Sheldon, L.E. Crooks, L. Fussell, Temperature distribution measurements in two-dimensional NMR imaging, Med. Phys. 10 (1983) 321–325.
- [12] D.L. Parker, Applications of NMR imaging in hyperthermia: an evaluation of the potential for localized tissue heating and noninvasive temperature monitoring, IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 31 (1984) 161–167.
- [13] W. Schneider, H. Bernstein, J. Pople, Proton magnetic resonance chemical shift of free (gaseous) and associated (liquid) hydride molecules, J. Chem. Phys. 28 (1958) 601–607.
- [14] N. Muller, Concerning structural models for water and chemical-shift data, J. Chem. Phys. 43 (1965) 2555–2556.
- [15] J.C. Hindman, Proton resonance shift of water in the gas and liquid states, J. Chem. Phys. 44 (1966) 4582–4592.
- [16] N.W. Lutz, A.C. Kuesel, W.E. Hull, A 1H-NMR method for determining temperature in cell culture perfusion systems, Magn. Reson. Med. 29 (1993) 113-118.
- [17] K. Kuroda, Y. Miki, N. Nakagawa, S. Tsutsumi, Y. Ishihara, Y. Suzuki, K. Sato, Non-invasive temperature measurement by means of NMR parameters-Use of proton chemical shift with spectral estimation technique, Med. Biol. Eng. Comput. 29 (1991) 902.
- [18] Y. Ishihara, A. Calderon, H. Waranabee, K. Mori, K. Okamoto, Y. Suzuki, K. Sato, K. Kuroda, N. Nakagawa, S. Tsuysumi, A precise and fast temperature mapping method using water proton chemical shift, in: SMRM, 1992, p. 4803.
- [19] Y. Ishihara, A. Calderon, H. Watanabe, K. Okamoto, Y. Suzuki, K. Kuroda, A precise and fast temperature mapping using water proton chemical shift, Magn. Reson. Med. 34 (1995) 814–823.
- [20] J. De Poorter, C. Dewagter, Y. Dedeene, C. Thomsen, F. Stahlberg, E. Achten, The proton-resonance-frequency-shift method compared with molecular diffusion for quantitative measurement of two-dimensional time-dependent temperature distribution in a phantom, J. Magn. Reson. Ser. B. 103 (1994) 234–241.
- [21] J. De Poorter, C. De Wagter, Y. De Deene, C. Thomsen, F. Ståhlberg, E. Achten, Noninvasive MRI thermometry with the proton resonance frequency (PRF) method: in vivo results in human muscle, Magn. Reson. Med. 33 (1995) 74– 81.
- [22] L. Hall, S. Talagala, Hall, mapping of pH and temperature distribution using chemical-shift-resolved tomography, J. Magn. Reson. 65 (1985) 501–505, https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2364(85)90136-2.
- [23] J. De Poorter, Noninvasive MRI thermometry with the proton resonance frequency method Study of susceptibility effects, Magn. Reson. Med. 43 (1995) 359–367.
- [24] N. Muller, R.C. Reiter, Temperature dependence of chemical shifts of protons in hydrogen bonds, J. Chem. Phys. 42 (1965), https://doi.org/10.1063/ 1.1732019.
- [25] R.D. Peters, R.S. Hinks, R.M. Henkelman, Ex vivo tissue-type independence in proton-resonance frequency shift MR thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 40 (1998) 454–459, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910400316.
- [26] N. McDannold, Quantitative MRI-based temperature mapping based on the proton resonant frequency shift: review of validation studies, Int. J. Hyperth. 21 (2005) 533–546.
- [27] R.D. Peters, R.M. Henkelman, Proton-resonance frequency shift MR thermometry is affected by changes in the electrical conductivity of tissue, Magn. Reson. Med. 43 (2000) 62–71, https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1522-2594 (200001)43:1<62::AID-MRM8>3.0.CO;2-1.
- [28] J.R. MacFall, D.M. Prescott, H.C. Charles, T.V. Samulski, 1H MRI phase thermometry in vivo in canine brain, muscle, and tumor tissue, Med. Phys. 23 (1996) 1775–1782, https://doi.org/10.1118/1.597760.
- [29] S. Sinha, T. Oshiro, U. Sinha, R. Lufkin, Phase imaging on a.2-T MR scanner: application to temperature monitoring during ablation procedures, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging. 7 (1997) 918–928.
- [30] R.D. Peters, E. Chan, J. Trachtenberg, S. Jothy, L. Kapusta, W. Kucharczyk, R.M. Henkelman, Magnetic resonance thermometry for predicting thermal damage: an application of interstitial laser coagulation in an in vivo canine prostate model, Magn. Reson. Med. 44 (2000) 873–883, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/1522-2594(200012)44:6-873::AID-MRM8>3.0.CO;2-X.
- [31] K. Kuroda, K. Oshio, R.V. Mulkern, F.A. Jolesz, Optimization of chemical shift selective suppression of fat, Magn. Reson. Med. 40 (1998) 505–510, https:// doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910400402.
- [32] B. Quesson, C. Laurent, G. Maclair, B.D. de Senneville, C. Mougenot, M. Ries, T. Carteret, A. Rullier, C.T.W.W. Moonen, Real-time volumetric MRI thermometry of focused ultrasound ablation in vivo: a feasibility study in pig liver and kidney, NMR Biomed. 24 (2011) 145–153, https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.1563.
- [33] E. Ramsay, C. Mougenot, M. Köhler, M. Bronskill, L. Klotz, M.A. Haider, R. Chopra, MR thermometry in the human prostate gland at 3.0T for transurethral ultrasound therapy, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 38 (2013) 1564–1571, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.24063.
- [34] V. Rieke, R. Instrella, J. Rosenberg, W. Grissom, B. Werner, E. Martin, K.B. Pauly, Comparison of temperature processing methods for monitoring focused ultrasound ablation in the brain, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 38 (2013) 1462–1471, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.24117.
- [35] M. Marx, P. Ghanouni, K. Butts Pauly, Specialized volumetric thermometry for improved guidance of MRgFUS in brain, Magn. Reson. Med. 78 (2017) 508– 517, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.26385.

- [36] B.T. Svedin, A. Payne, B.D. Bolster, D.L. Parker, Multiecho pseudo-golden angle stack of stars thermometry with high spatial and temporal resolution using kspace weighted image contrast, Magn. Reson. Med. 79 (2018) 1407–1419, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.26797.
- [37] A.H. Chung, K. Hynynen, V. Colucci, K. Oshio, H.E. Cline, F.A. Jolesz, Optimization of spoiled gradient-echo phase imaging forin vivo localization of a focused ultrasound beam, Magn. Reson. Med. 36 (1996) 745–752, https:// doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910360513.
- [38] M.W. Vogel, P.M.T. Pattynama, F.L. Lethimonnier, P. Le Roux, Use of fast spin echo for phase shift magnetic resonance thermometry, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging, 18 (2003) 507-512.
- [39] M.N. Streicher, A. Schäfer, D. Ivanov, D.K. Müller, A. Amadon, E. Reimer, L. Huber, B. Dhital, D. Rivera, C. Kögler, R. Trampel, A. Pampel, R. Turner, Fast accurate MR thermometry using phase referenced asymmetric spin-echo EPI at high field, Magn. Reson. Med. 71 (2014) 524–533, https://doi.org/10.1002/ mrm.24681.
- [40] B. Hargreaves, Rapid gradient-echo imaging, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 36 (2012) 1300–1313, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.23742.
- [41] A.B. Holbrook, J.M. Santos, E. Kaye, V. Rieke, K. Butts Pauly, Real-time MR thermometry for monitoring HIFU ablations of the liver, Magn. Reson. Med. 63 (2010) 365–373.
- [42] a. Kickhefel, J. Roland, C. Weiss, F. Schick, Accuracy of real-time MR temperature mapping in the brain: a comparison of fast sequences, Phys. Medica 26 (2010) 192–201, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmp.2009.11.006.
- [43] A. Cernicanu, M. Lepetit-Coiffe, J. Roland, C.D. Becker, S. Terraz, Validation of fast MR thermometry at 1.5 T with gradient-echo echo planar imaging sequences: phantom and clinical feasibility studies, NMR Biomed. 21 (2008) 849–858, https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.
- [44] C. Weidensteiner, B. Quesson, B. Caire-Gana, N. Kerioui, A. Rullier, H. Trillaud, C.T.W. Moonen, Real-time MR temperature mapping of rabbit liver in vivo during thermal ablation, Magn. Reson. Med. 50 (2003) 322–330, https://doi. org/10.1002/mrm.10521.
- [45] J.A. de Zwart, F.C. Vimeux, C. Delalande, P. Canioni, C.T.W. Moonen, Fast lipidsuppressed MR temperature mapping with echo-shifted gradient-echo imaging and spectral-spatial excitation, Magn. Reson. Med. 42 (1999) 53–59.
- [46] B. Madore, L.P. Panych, C.-S.S. Mei, J. Yuan, R. Chu, Multipathway sequences for MR thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 66 (2011) 658–668, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mrm.22844.
- [47] N. Todd, G. Adluru, A. Payne, E.V.R. DiBella, D. Parker, Temporally constrained reconstruction applied to MRI temperature data, Magn. Reson. Med. 62 (2009) 406–419.
- [48] B. Denis de Senneville, S. Roujol, S. Hey, C. Moonen, M. Ries, E. Roujol, S. Hey, C. Moonen, M. Ries, Extended Kalman filtering for continuous volumetric MRtemperature imaging, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging 32 (2013) 711–718.
- [49] S. Roujol, M. Ries, B. Quesson, C. Moonen, B. Denis de Senneville, Real-time MR-thermometry and dosimetry for interventional guidance on abdominal organs, Magn. Reson. Med. 63 (2010) 1080–1087.
- [50] S.V. Jonathan, W.A. Grissom, Volumetric MRI thermometry using a threedimensional stack-of-stars echo-planar imaging pulse sequence, Magn. Reson. Med. 79 (2018) 2003–2013, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.26862.
- [51] R.R. Ernst, W.A. Anderson, Application of fourier transform spectroscopy to magnetic resonance, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 37 (1966) 93–102, https://doi.org/ 10.1063/1.1719961.
- [52] M.A. Bernstein, K.F. King, X.J. Zhou, Handbook of MRI Pulse Sequences, Elsevier, London, 2004.
- [53] M. Marx, J. Plata, K. Butts Pauly, Toward volumetric MR thermometry with the MASTER sequence, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging 62 (2014) 1–9, https://doi. org/10.1109/TMI.2014.2349912.
- [54] Y. Peng, C. Zou, Y. Qiao, C. Tie, Q. Wan, R. Jiang, C. Cheng, D. Liang, H. Zheng, F. Li, X. Liu, Fast MR thermometry using an echo-shifted sequence with simultaneous multi-slice imaging, Magn. Reson. Mater. Phys., Biol. Med. 31 (2018) 771–779, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10334-018-0692-x.
- [55] T. Harth, T. Kahn, M. Rassek, B. Schwabe, H.J. Schwarzmaier, J.S. Lewin, U. Mödder, Determination of laser-induced temperature distributions using echo-shifted TurboFLASH, Magn. Reson. Med. 38 (1997) 238–245.
- [56] M. Marx, K. Butts Pauly, Improved MRI thermometry with multiple-echo spirals, Magn. Reson. Med. 76 (2016) 747-756, https://doi.org/10.1002/ mrm.25914.
- [57] K. Scheffler, Fast frequency mapping with balanced SSFP: theory and application to proton-resonance frequency shift thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 51 (2004) 1205–1211.
- [58] V. Paliwal, A.-M. El-Sharkawy, X. Du, X. Yang, E. Atalar, SSFP-based MR thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 52 (2004) 704–708.
- [59] R. Stollberger, P.W. Ascher, D. Huber, W. Renhart, H. Radner, F. Ebner, Temperature monitoring of interstitial thermal tissue coagulation using MR phase images, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 8 (1998) 188–196, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jmri.1880080132.
- [60] V. Rieke, K.B. Pauly, Echo combination to reduce Proton Resonance Frequency (PRF) thermometry errors from fat, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 27 (2008) 673– 677, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.21238.
- [61] A. Haase, J. Frahm, W. Hänicke, D. Matthaei, 1H NMR chemical shift selective (CHESS) imaging, Phys. Med. Biol. 30 (1985) 341–344.
- [62] J. Yuan, C. Mei, P. Lawrence, N.J. Mcdannold, B. Madore, Towards fast and accurate temperature mapping with proton resonance frequency-based MR thermometry, Quant Imaging Med. Surg. 2 (2012) 21–32, https://doi.org/ 10.3978/j.issn.2223-4292.2012.01.06.

- [63] W.A. Grissom, A.B. Kerr, A.B. Holbrook, J.M. Pauly, K. Butts-Pauly, Maximum linear-phase spectral-spatial radiofrequency pulses for fat-suppressed proton resonance frequency-shift MR thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 62 (2009) 1242–1250, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22118.
- [64] J. Yuan, C.S. Mei, B. Madore, N.J. McDannold, L.P. Panych, Fast fatsuppressed reduced field-of-view temperature mapping using 2DRF excitation pulses, J. Magn. Reson. 210 (2011) 38–43, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jmr.2011.02.004.
- [65] L.W. Hofstetter, D.T.B. Yeo, W.T. Dixon, J.G. Kempf, C.E. Davis, T.K. Foo, Fatreferenced MR thermometry in the breast and prostate using IDEAL, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging. 36 (2012) 722–732.
- [66] M. Diakite, H. Odéen, N. Todd, A. Payne, D.L. Parker, Toward real-time temperature monitoring in fat and aqueous tissue during magnetic resonance-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound using a threedimensional proton resonance frequency T1 method, Magn. Reson. Med. 72 (2014) 178–187, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.24900.
- [67] L.W. Hofstetter, D.T.B. Yeo, W.T. Dixon, L. Marinelli, T.K. Foo, Referenced MR thermometry using three-echo phase-based fat water separation method, Magn. Reson. Imaging 49 (2018) 86–93, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mri.2018.01.002.
- [68] A.V. Shmatukha, P.R. Harvey, C.J.G. Bakker, Correction of proton resonance frequency shift temperature maps for magnetic field disturbances using fat signal, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 25 (2007) 579–587, https://doi.org/10.1002/ jmri.20835.
- [69] P. Baron, R. Deckers, J.G. Bouwman, C.J.G. Bakker, M. de Greef, M.A. Viergever, C.T.W. Moonen, L.W. Bartels, Influence of water and fat heterogeneity on fatreferenced MR thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 75 (2016) 1187–1197, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25727.
- [70] B.J. Soher, C. Wyatt, S.B. Reeder, J.R. MacFall, Noninvasive temperature mapping with MRI using chemical shift water-fat separation, Magn. Reson. Med. 63 (2010) 1238–1246, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22310.
- [71] M.N. Streicher, A. Schäfer, D. Müller, C. Kögler, E. Reimer, B. Dhital, R. Trampel, D. ..Rivera, A. Pampel, D. Ivanov, R. Turner, Frequency-selective asymmetric spin-echo EPI with parallel imaging for fast internally referenced MR Thermometry, in: Int. Soc. Magn. Reson. Med., 2011, p. 529.
- [72] C. Cheng, C. Zou, Q. Wan, Y. Qiao, M. Pan, C. Tie, D. Liang, H. Zheng, X. Liu, Dual-step iterative temperature estimation method for accurate and precise fat-referenced PRFS temperature imaging, Magn. Reson. Med. (2018) 1–13, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.27396.
- [73] N. Yamada, S. Imakita, T. Sakuma, Y. Nishimura, Y. Yamada, H. Naito, T. Nishimura, M. Takamiya, Evaluation of the susceptibility effect on the phase images of a simple gradient echo, Radiology 175 (1990) 561–565.
- [74] R.D. Peters, R.S. Hinks, R.M. Henkelman, Heat-source orientation and geometry dependence in proton-resonance frequency shift magnetic resonance thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 41 (1999) 909–918. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10332873>.
- [75] I.R. Young, J.V. Hajnal, I.G. Roberts, J.X. Ling, R.J. Hill-cottingham, A. Oatridge, J.A. Wilson, An evaluation of effects of susceptibility changes on the water chemical shift method of temerature measurement in human peripheral muscle, Magn. Reson. Med. 36 (1996) 366–374.
- [76] S.M. Sprinkhuizen, C.J.G. Bakker, J.H. Ippel, R. Boelens, M.a. Viergever, L.W. Bartels, Temperature dependence of the magnetic volume susceptibility of human breast fat tissue: an NMR study, MAGMA 25 (2012) 33–39.
- [77] S.M. Sprinkhuizen, M.K. Konings, M.J. van der Bom, M.A. Viergever, C.J.G. Bakker, L.W. Bartels, Temperature-induced tissue susceptibility changes lead to significant temperature errors in PRFS-based MR thermometry during thermal interventions, Magn. Reson. Med. 64 (2010) 1360–1372, https://doi. org/10.1002/mrm.22531.
- [78] P. Baron, R. Deckers, M. de Greef, L.G. Merckel, C.J.G. Bakker, J.G. Bouwman, R. La.W. Bleys, M.a.a.J. van den Bosch, L.W. Bartels, Correction of proton resonance frequency shift MR-thermometry errors caused by heat-induced magnetic susceptibility changes during high intensity focused ultrasound ablations in tissues containing fat, Magn. Reson. Med. 72 (2014) 1580–1589, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25063.
- [79] R. Salomir, B.D. De Senneville, C.T.W. Moonen, A fast calculation method for magnetic field inhomogeneity due to an arbitrary distribution of bulk susceptibility, Concepts Magn. Reson. Part B Magn. Reson. Eng. 19 (2003) 26–34, https://doi.org/10.1002/cmr.b.10083.
- [80] A. El-Sharkawy, M. Schär, P. Bottomley, E. Atalar, Monitoring and correcting spatio-temporal variations of the MR scanner's static magnetic field, MAGMA 19 (5) (2006) 223–236.
- [81] T. Lange, M. Zaitsev, M. Buechert, Correction of frequency drifts induced by gradient heating in 1H spectra using interleaved reference spectroscopy, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 33 (2011) 748–754, https://doi.org/10.1002/ jmri.22471.
- [82] V. Rieke, K.K. Vigen, G. Sommer, B.L. Daniel, J.M. Pauly, K. Butts, Referenceless PRF shift thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 51 (2004) 1223–1231, https://doi. org/10.1002/mrm.20090.
- [83] W.a. Grissom, M. Lustig, A.B. Holbrook, V. Rieke, J.M. Pauly, K. Butts-Pauly, Reweighted *l*1 referenceless PRF shift thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 64 (2010) 1068–1077, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22502.
- [84] A. Kickhefel, C. Rosenberg, J. Roland, M. Viallon, P. Gross, F. Schick, N. Hosten, R. Salomir, A pilot study for clinical feasibility of the near-harmonic 2D referenceless PRFS thermometry in liver under free breathing using MRguided LITT ablation data, Int. J. Hyperth. 28 (2012) 250–266, https://doi.org/ 10.3109/02656736.2012.670834.

- [85] K. Kuroda, D. Kokuryo, E. Kumamoto, K. Suzuki, Y. Matsuoka, B. Keserci, Optimization of self-reference thermometry using complex field estimation, Magn. Reson. Med. 56 (2006) 835–843, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.21016.
- [86] N. McDannold, C. Tempany, F. Jolesz, K. Hynynen, Evaluation of referenceless thermometry in MRI-guided focused ultrasound surgery of uterine fibroids, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 28 (2008) 1026–1032, https://doi.org/10.1002/ jmri.21506.
- [87] R. Salomir, M. Viallon, A. Kickhefel, J. Roland, D.R. Morel, L. Petrusca, V. Auboiroux, T. Goget, S. Terraz, C.D. Becker, P. Gross, Reference-free PRFS MRthermometry using near-harmonic 2-D reconstruction of the background phase, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging 31 (2012) 287–301, https://doi.org/10.1109/ TMI.2011.2168421.
- [88] C. Zou, H. Shen, M. He, C. Tie, Y.-C. Chung, X. Liu, A fast referenceless PRFSbased MR thermometry by phase finite difference, Phys. Med. Biol. 58 (2013) 5735–5751, https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/58/16/5735.
- [89] C. Zou, C. Tie, M. Pan, Q. Wan, C. Liang, X. Liu, Y.-C. Chung, Referenceless MR thermometry—a comparison of five methods, Phys. Med. Biol. 62 (2017) 1– 16, https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6560/62/1/1.
- [90] J. Gellermann, W. Wlodarczyk, B. Hildebrandt, H. Ganter, A. Nicolau, B. Rau, W. Tilly, H. Fa, J. Nadobny, R. Felix, P. Wust, Noninvasive magnetic resonance thermography of recurrent rectal carcinoma in a 1. 5 Tesla hybrid system rectal carcinoma in a 1. 5 Tesla hybrid system, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 5872– 5880, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3952.
- [91] J. Gellermann, W. Wlodarczyk, H. Ganter, J. Nadobny, H. Fähling, M. Seebass, R. Felix, P. Wust, A practical approach to thermography in a hyperthermia/magnetic resonance hybrid system: validation in a heterogeneous phantom, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 61 (2005) 267– 277, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2004.05.009.
- [92] J. Gellermann, B. Hildebrandt, K. Issels, H. Ganter, W. Wlodarczyk, V. Budach, R. Felix, P.U. Tunn, P. Reichardt, P. Wust, Noninvasive magnetic resonance thermography of soft tissue sarcomas during regional hyperthermia: correlation with response and direct thermometry, Cancer 107 (2006) 1373–1382, https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.22114.
- [93] K. Kuroda, K. Oshio, a.H. Chung, K. Hynynen, F.a. Jolesz, Temperature mapping using the water proton chemical shift: a chemical shift selective phase mapping method, Magn. Reson. Med. 38 (1997) 845–851, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mrm.1910380523.
- [94] C. Wyatt, B. Soher, P. MacCarini, H.C. Charles, P. Stauffer, J. MacFall, Hyperthermia MRI temperature measurement: evaluation of measurement stabilisation strategies for extremity and breast tumours, Int. J. Hyperth. 25 (2009) 422–433, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730903133762.
- [95] B.T. Svedin, A. Payne, D.L. Parker, Respiration artifact correction in threedimensional proton resonance frequency MR thermometry using phase navigators, Magn. Reson. Med. 76 (2016) 206–213, https://doi.org/10.1002/ mrm.25860.
- [96] P.A. Bottomley, E.R. Andrew, RF magnetic field penetration, phase shift and power dissipation in biological tissue: implication for NMR imaging, Phys Med Biol. 23 (1978) 630–643, papers2://publication/uuid/71F85AD2-68DC-4C71-9D7F-5492212FFC41.
- [97] R.D. Stoy, K.R. Foster, H.P. Schwan, Dielectric properties of mammalian tissues from 0.1 to 100 MHz: a summary of recent data, Phys. Med. Biol. 27 (1982) 501–513.
- [98] T. Dadakova, J. Gellermann, O. Voigt, J.G. Korvink, J.M. Pavlina, J. Hennig, M. Bock, Fast PRF-based MR thermometry using double-echo EPI: in vivo comparison in a clinical hyperthermia setting, Magn. Reson. Mater. Phys., Biol. Med. 28 (2015) 305–314, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10334-014-0467-y.
- [99] J. Gellermann, W. Wlodarczyk, A. Feussner, H. Fähling, J. Nadobny, B. Hildebrandt, R. Felix, P. Wust, Methods and potentials of magnetic resonance imaging for monitoring radiofrequency hyperthermia in a hybrid system, Int. J. Hyperth. 21 (2005) 497–513, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02656730500070102.
- [100] D. Morvan, A. Leroy-Willig, A. Malgouyres, C.A. Cuenod, P. Jehenson, A. Syrota, Simultaneous temperature and regional blood volume measurements in human muscle using an MRI fast diffusion technique, Magn. Reson. Med. 29 (1993) 371–377, https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.2938.
- [101] R.M. Weisskoff, S. Kihne, MRI susceptometry- image-based measurement of absolute susceptibility of MR contrast agents and human blood, Magn. Reson. Med. 24 (1992) 375–383.
- [102] D. Le Bihan, E. Breton, D. Lallemand, M.L. Aubin, J. Vignaud, M. Laval-Jeantet, Separation of diffusion and perfusion in intravoxel incoherent motion MR imaging, Radiology 168 (1988) 497–505, https://doi.org/10.1148/ radiology.168.2.3393671.
- [103] N. McDannold, K. Hynynen, F. Jolesz, MRI monitoring of the thermal ablation of tissue: effects of long exposure times, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 13 (2001) 421–427, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.1061.
- [104] R.J. Stafford, R.E. Price, C.J. Diederich, M. Kangasniemi, L.E. Olsson, J.D. Hazle, Interleaved echo-planar imaging for fast multiplanar magnetic resonance temperature imaging of ultrasound thermal ablation therapy, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 20 (2004) 706–714, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.20157.
- [105] M.O. Köhler, C. Mougenot, B. Quesson, J. Enholm, B. Le Bail, C. Laurent, C.T.W. Moonen, G.J. Ehnholm, Volumetric HIFU ablation under 3D guidance of rapid MRI thermometry, Med. Phys. 36 (2009) 3521–3535, https://doi.org/10.1118/ 1.3152112.
- [106] N. Todd, U. Vyas, J. de Bever, A. Payne, D.L. Parker, Reconstruction of fully three-dimensional high spatial and temporal resolution MR temperature maps for retrospective applications, Magn. Reson. Med. 67 (2012) 724–730.

- [107] S.W. Fielden, X. Feng, L. Zhao, G.W. Miller, M. Geeslin, R.F. Dallapiaza, W.J. Elias, M. Wintermark, K. Butts Pauly, C.H. Meyer, A spiral-based volumetric acquisition for MR temperature imaging, Magn. Reson. Med. Early View (2017) 1–6, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.26981.
- [108] S. Vallo, K. Eichler, K. Kelly, B. Schulz, G. Bartsch, A. Haferkamp, T.J. Vogl, S. Zangos, MR-guided laser-induced thermotherapy in *ex vivo* porcine kidney: comparison of four different imaging sequences, Lasers Surg. Med. 46 (2014) 558–562, https://doi.org/10.1002/lsm.22262.
- [109] R.J. Stafford, J.D. Hazle, G.H. Glover, Monitoring of high-intensity focused ultrasound-induced temperature changes in vitro using an interleaved spiral acquisition, Magn. Reson. Med. 43 (2000) 909–912.
- [110] B.T. Svedin, C.R. Dillon, D.L. Parker, Effect of k-space-weighted image contrast and ultrasound focus size on the accuracy of proton resonance frequency thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 81 (2019) 247–257, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mrm.27383.
- [111] E. Durand, P.F. van de Moortele, M. Pachot-Clouard, D. Le Bihan, Artifact due to B(0) fluctuations in fMRI: correction using the k-space central line, Magn. Reson. Med. 46 (2001) 198–201.
- [112] K.P. Pruessmann, M. Weiger, M.B. Scheidegger, P. Boesiger, SENSE: sensitivity encoding for fast MRI, Magn. Reson. Med. 42 (1999) 952–962.
- [113] M.A. Griswold, P.M. Jakob, R.M. Heidemann, M. Nittka, V. Jellus, J. Wang, B. Kiefer, A. Haase, Generalized autocalibrating partially parallel acquisitions (GRAPPA), Magn. Reson. Med. 47 (2002) 1202–1210.
- [114] C. Weidensteiner, N. Kerioui, B. Quesson, B. Denis de Senneville, H. Trillaud, C. T.W. Moonen, Stability of real-time MR temperature mapping in healthy and diseased human liver, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 19 (2004) 438–446.
- [115] J.A. Bankson, R.J. Stafford, J.D. Hazle, Partially parallel imaging with phasesensitive data: Increased temporal resolution for magnetic resonance temperature imaging, Magn. Reson. Med. 53 (2005) 658–665, https://doi. org/10.1002/mrm.20378.
- [116] J.-Y. Guo, E.G. Kholmovski, L. Zhang, E.-K. Jeong, D.L. Parker, k-space inherited parallel acquisition (KIPA): application on dynamic magnetic resonance imaging thermometry, Magn. Reson. Imaging 24 (2006) 903–915, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.mri.2006.03.001.
- [117] C.-S.S. Mei, L.P. Panych, J. Yuan, N.J. McDannold, L.H. Treat, Y. Jing, B. Madore, Combining two-dimensional spatially selective RF excitation, parallel imaging, and UNFOLD for accelerated MR thermometry imaging, Magn. Reson. Med. 66 (2011) 112–122.
- [118] P.T.S. Borman, C. Bos, T. de Boorder, B.W. Raaymakers, C.T.W. Moonen, S.P.M. Crijns, Towards real-time thermometry using simultaneous multislice MRI, Phys. Med. Biol. 61 (2016) N461–N477, https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/ 61/17/N461.
- [119] M. Lustig, D. Donoho, J.M. Pauly, Sparse MRI: The application of compressed sensing for rapid MR imaging, Magn. Reson. Med. 58 (2007) 1182–1195.
- [120] P. Leonard, R. Chopra, A. Nachman, Compressed Sensing for Accelerated MR Thermometry in MRI-Controlled Transurethral Ultrasound Therapy, in: Proc. 20th Sci. Meet. ISMRM, Melb., Melbourne, 2012, p. 2918.
- [121] Z. Cao, S. Oh, R. Otazo, C.T. Sica, M.A. Griswold, C.M. Collins, Complex difference constrained compressed sensing reconstruction for accelerated PRF thermometry with application to MRI-induced RF heating, Magn. Reson. Med. 73 (2015) 1420–1431, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25255.
- [122] C. Zachiu, M. Ries, C. Moonen, B.D. de Senneville, An adaptive non-localmeans filter for real-time MR-thermometry, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging 36 (2017) 904–916, https://doi.org/10.1109/TMI.2016.2627221.
- [123] N. Todd, A. Payne, D.L. Parker, Model predictive filtering for improved temporal resolution in MRI temperature imaging, Magn. Reson. Med. 63 (2010) 1269–1279, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22321.
- [124] P. Gaur, W.A. Grissom, Accelerated MRI thermometry by direct estimation of temperature from undersampled k-space data, Magn. Reson. Med. 73 (2015) 1914–1925, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25327.
- [125] D. Fuentes, J. Yung, J.D. Hazle, J.S. Weinberg, R.J. Stafford, Kalman filtered MR temperature imaging for laser induced thermal therapies, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging 31 (2012) 984–994.
- [126] S. Roujol, B. Denis de Senneville, S. Hey, C. Moonen, M. Ries, Robust adaptive extended Kalman filtering for real time MR-thermometry guided HIFU interventions, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging 31 (2012) 533–542, https://doi.org/ 10.1109/TMI.2011.2171772.
- [127] S. Fielden, L. Zhao, W. Miller, X. Feng, M. Wintermark, K.B. Pauly, C. Meyer, Accelerating 3D spiral MR thermometry with Kalman filter, Int. Soc. Magn. Reson. Med., Milan (2014) 2346.
- [128] Y. Zhang, S. Chen, K. Deng, B. Chen, X. Wei, J. Yang, S. Wang, K. Ying, Kalman filtered bio heat transfer model based self-adaptive hybrid magnetic resonance thermometry, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging 36 (2017) 194–202, https://doi.org/10.1109/TMI.2016.2601440.
- [129] F. Wang, Z. Dong, S. Chen, B. Chen, J. Yang, X. Wei, S. Wang, K. Ying, Fast temperature estimation from undersampled k-space with fully-sampled center for MR guided microwave ablation, Magn. Reson. Imaging 34 (2016) 1171–1180, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2016.05.003.
- [130] H.H. Pennes, Analysis of tissue and arterial blood temperatures in the resting human forearm, J. Appl. Physiol. 1 (1948) 93–122.
- [131] S. Morikawa, T. Inubushi, Y. Kurumi, S. Naka, K. Sato, K. Demura, T. Tani, H. Haque, Feasibility of respiratory triggering for MR-guided microwave ablation of liver tumors under general anesthesia, Cardivascular Interv. Radiol. 27 (2004) 370–373.
- [132] M. Lepetit-Coiffé, B. Quesson, O. Seror, E. Dumont, B. Le Bail, C.T.W. Moonen, H. Trillaud, Real-time monitoring of radiofrequency ablation of rabbit liver by

respiratory-gated quantitative temperature MRI, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 24 (2006) 152–159.

- [133] J.A. de Zwart, F.C. Vimeux, J. Palussière, R. Salomir, B. Quesson, C. Delalande, C.T.W. Moonen, J. Palussire, R. Salomir, B. Quesson, C. Delalande, C.T.W. Moonen, On-line correction and visualization of motion during MRIcontrolled hyperthermia, Magn. Reson. Med. 45 (2001) 128–137, https:// doi.org/10.1002/1522-2594(200101)45:1<128::AID-MRM1017>3.0.CO;2-M.
- [134] B. Denis de Senneville, C. Mougenot, C.T.W. Moonen, Real-time adaptive methods for treatment of mobile organs by MRI-controlled high-intensity focused ultrasound, Magn. Reson. Med. 57 (2007) 319–330.
- [135] K.K. Vigen, B.L. Daniel, J.M. Pauly, K. Butts, Triggered, navigated, multibaseline method for proton resonance frequency temperature mapping with respiratory motion, Magn. Reson. Med. 50 (2003) 1003–1010, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mrm.10608.
- [136] W.A. Grissom, V. Rieke, A.B. Holbrook, Y. Medan, M. Lustig, J. Santos, M.V. McConnell, K.B. Pauly, Hybrid referenceless and multibaseline subtraction MR thermometry for monitoring thermal therapies in moving organs, Med Phys. 37 (2010) 5014–5026, https://doi.org/10.1118/1.3475943.
- [137] S. Pichardo, M. Köhler, J. Lee, K. Hynnyen, In vivo optimisation study for multi-baseline MR-based thermometry in the context of hyperthermia using MR-guided high intensity focused ultrasound for head and neck applications, Int. J. Hyperth. 30 (2014) 579–592, https://doi.org/10.3109/ 02656736.2014.981299.
- [138] S. Hey, G. Maclair, B.D. de Senneville, M. Lepetit-Coiffe, Y. Berber, M.O. Kohler, B. Quesson, C.T.W. Moonen, M. Ries, M.O. Köhler, B. Quesson, C.T.W. Moonen, M. Ries, Online correction of respiratory-induced field disturbances for continuous MR-thermometry in the breast, Magn. Reson. Med. 61 (2009) 1494–1499, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.21954.
- [139] B.D. De Senneville, S. Roujol, C. Moonen, M. Ries, Motion correction in MR thermometry of abdominal organs: a comparison of the referenceless vs. the multibaseline approach, Magn. Reson. Med. 64 1373–1381 (2010), https:// doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22514.
- [140] J. Tan, C. Mougenot, S. Pichardo, J.M. Drake, A.C. Waspe, Motion compensation using principal component analysis and projection onto dipole fields for abdominal magnetic resonance thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. (2018), https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.27368.
- [141] C.J. Ferrer, L.W. Bartels, M. van Stralen, B. Denis de Senneville, C.T.W. Moonen, C. Bos, Fluid filling of the digestive tract for improved proton resonance frequency shift-based MR thermometry in the pancreas, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 47 (2018) 692–701, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.25800.
- [142] J. Langley, W. Potter, C. Phipps, F. Huang, Q. Zhao, A self-reference PRF-shift MR thermometry method utilizing the phase gradient, Phys. Med. Biol. 56 (2011) N307–N320, https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/56/24/N02.
- [143] F. Maier, D. Fuentes, J.S. Weinberg, J.D. Hazle, R.J. Stafford, Robust phase unwrapping for MR temperature imaging using a magnitude-sorted list, multi-clustering algorithm, Magn. Reson. Med. 00 (2014) 1662–1668, https:// doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25279.
- [144] V. Rieke, A.M. Kinsey, A.B. Ross, W.H. Nau, C.J. Diederich, G. Sommer, K.B. Pauly, Referenceless MR thermometry for monitoring thermal ablation in the prostate, IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging 26 (2007) 813–821, https://doi.org/ 10.1109/TMI.2007.892647.
- [145] N. Bloembergen, E.M. Purcell, R.V. Pound, Relaxation effects in nuclear magnetic resonance absorption, Phys. Rev. 73 (1948) 679–712.
- [146] F. Noack, Nuclear Magnetic Relaxation Spectroscopy, in: NMR Basic Princ. Prog. Grundlagen Und Fortschritte, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1971, pp. 83–144.
- [147] T.R. Nelson, S.M. Tung, Temperature dependence of proton relaxation times in vitro.pdf, Magn. Reson. Imaging 5 (1987) 189–199.
- [148] C.J. Lewa, Z. Majewska, Temperature relationships of proton spin-lattice relaxation time T1 in biological tissues, Bull. Cancer 67 (1980) 525–530. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6260272>.
- [149] P.A. Bottomley, T.H. Foster, R.E. Argersinger, L.M. Pfeifer, A review of normal tissue hydrogen NMR relaxation times and relaxation mechanisms from 1– 100 MHz: Dependence on tissue type, NMR frequency, temperature, species, excision, and age, Med. Phys. 11 (1984) 425–448, https://doi.org/10.1118/ 1.595535.
- [150] H.E. Cline, K. Hynynen, C.J. Hardy, R.D. Watkins, J.F. Schenck, F.A. Jolesz, MR temperature mapping of focused ultrasound surgery, Magn. Reson. Med. 31 (1994) 628–636. <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.
- [151] K.K. Kuroda, T.I. Iwabuchi, M.O. Obara, M.H. Honda, Temperature dependence of relaxation times in proton components of fatty acids, Magn. Reson. Med. Sci. 10 (2011) 177–183.
- [152] S. Hey, M. de Smet, C. Stehning, H. Grull, J. Keupp, C.T.W. Moonen, M. Ries, H. Grüll, J. Keupp, C.T.W. Moonen, M. Ries, Simultaneous T1 measurements and proton resonance frequency shift based thermometry using variable flip angles, Magn. Reson. Med. 67 (2012) 457–463, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22987.
- [153] N. Todd, M. Diakite, A. Payne, D.L. Parker, Hybrid proton resonance frequency/T1 technique for simultaneous temperature monitoring in adipose and aqueous tissues, Magn. Reson. Med. 69 (2013) 62–70.
- [154] P. Baron, R. Deckers, F.M. Knuttel, L.W. Bartels, T1 and T2 temperature dependence of female human breast adipose tissue at 1.5 T: groundwork for monitoring thermal therapies in the breast, NMR Biomed. (2015), https://doi. org/10.1002/nbm.3410.

- [155] R.J. Dickinson, A.S. Hall, A.J. Hind, I.R. Young, Measurement of changes in tissue temperature using MR imaging, J. Comput. Assist. Tomogr. 10 (1986) 468–472.
- [156] A.S. Hall, M.V. Prior, J.W. Hand, I.R. Young, R.J. Dickinson, Observation by MR imaging of in vivo temperature changes induced by radio frequency hyperthermia, J. Comput. Assist. Tomogr. 14 (1990) 430–436.
- [157] M. Peller, H.M. Reinl, A. Weigel, M. Meininger, R.D. Issels, M. Reiser, T1 relaxation time at 0.2 Tesla for monitoring regional hyperthermia: Feasibility study in muscle and adipose tissue, Magn. Reson. Med. 47 (2002) 1194–1201, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.10155.
- [158] R. Matsumoto, K. Oshio, F. Jolesz, Monitoring of laser and freezing-induced ablation in the liver with T1-weighted MR imaging, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 2 (1992) 555–562.
- [159] M. Han, V. Rieke, S.J. Scott, E. Ozhinsky, V.A. Salgaonkar, P.D. Jones, P.E.Z. Larson, C.J. Diederich, R. Krug, Quantifying temperature-dependent T₁ changes in cortical bone using ultrashort echo-time MRI, Magn. Reson. Med. 74 (2015) 1548–1555, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25994.
- [160] C. Birkl, C. Langkammer, J. Haybaeck, C. Ernst, R. Stollberger, F. Fazekas, S. Ropele, Temperature-induced changes of magnetic resonance relaxation times in the human brain: a postmortem study, Magn. Reson. Med. 71 (2014) 1575–1580, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.24799.
- [161] B.D. Youl, C.P. Hawkins, J.K. Morris, E.P. DuBoulay, P.S. Tofts, In vivo T1 values from guinea pig brain depend on body temperature, Magn. Reson. Med. 24 (1992) 170–173.
- [162] M. Peller, V. Kurze, R. Loeffler, S. Pahernik, M. Dellian, A.E. Goetz, R. Issels, M. Reiser, Hyperthermia induces T1 relaxation and blood flow changes in tumors. A MRI thermometry study in vivo, Magn. Reson. Imaging 21 (2003) 545–551, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0730-725X(03)00070-5.
- [163] M. Diakite, A. Payne, N. Todd, D.L. Parker, Irreversible change in the T1 temperature dependence with thermal dose using the proton resonance frequency-T1 technique, Magn. Reson. Med. 69 (2013) 1122–1130.
- [164] F.S. Prato, D.J. Drost, T. Keys, P. Laxon, B. Comissiong, E. Sestini, Optimization of signal-to-noise ratio in calculated T1 images derived from two spin-echo images, Magn. Reson. Med. 3 (1986) 63–75.
- [165] R.K. Gupta, A new look at the method of variable nutation angle for the measurement of spin-lattice relaxation times using fourier transform NMR, J. Magn. Reson. 25 (1977) 231–235, https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2364(77) 90138-X.
- [166] E.K. Fram, R.J. Herfkens, G.A. Johnson, G.H. Glover, J.P. Karis, A. Shimakawa, T. G. Perkins, N.J. Pelc, Rapid calculation of T1 using variable flip angle gradient refocused imaging, Magn. Reson. Imaging. 5 (1987) 201–208.
- [167] S.C.L. Deoni, T.M. Peters, B.K. Rutt, High-resolution T1 and T2 mapping of the brain in a clinically acceptable time with DESPOT1 and DESPOT2, Magn. Reson. Med. 53 (2005) 237–241, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.20314.
- [168] N. Todd, M. Diakite, A. Payne, D.L. Parker, In vivo evaluation of multi-echo hybrid PRF/T1 approach for temperature monitoring during breast MRguided focused ultrasound surgery treatments, Magn. Reson. Med. 72 (2014) 793–799.
- [169] T.A. Bley, O. Wieben, C.J. François, J.H. Brittain, S.B. Reeder, Fat and water magnetic resonance imaging, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 31 (2010) 4–18, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.21895.
- [170] S.J. Graham, G.J. Stanisz, A. Kecojevic, M.J. Bronskill, R.M. Henkelman, Analysis of changes in MR properties of tissues after heat treatment, Magn. Reson. Med. 42 (1999) 1061–1071. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 10571927>.
- [171] P. Baron, M. Ries, R. Deckers, M. de Greef, J. Tanttu, M. Köhler, M.A. Viergever, C.T.W. Moonen, L.W. Bartels, M. Kohler, M.A. Viergever, C.T.W. Moonen, L.W. Bartels, In vivo T2 -based MR thermometry in adipose tissue layers for highintensity focused ultrasound near-field monitoring, Magn. Reson. Med. 72 (2014) 1057–1064, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25025.
- [172] E. Ozhinsky, M.P. Kohi, P. Ghanouni, V. Rieke, T2-based temperature monitoring in abdominal fat during MR-guided focused ultrasound treatment of patients with uterine fibroids, J. Ther. Ultrasound. 3 (2015) 1– 10, https://doi.org/10.1186/s40349-015-0036-5.
- [173] H. Tanaka, K. Eno, H. Kato, T. Ishida, Possible application of non-invasive thermometry for hyperthermia using NMR, Nihon Igaku Hoshasen Gakkai Zasshi 41 (1981) 897–899.
- [174] B. Knüttel, H.P. Juretschke, Temperature measurements by nuclear magnetic resonance and its possible use as a means of in vivo noninvasive temperature measurement and for hyperthermia treatment assessment, Recent Results Cancer Res. 101 (1986) 109–118.
- [175] I.R. Young, J.W. Hand, A. Oatridge, M.V. Prior, Modeling and observation of temperature changes in vivo using MRI, Magn. Reson. Med. 32 (1994) 358– 369.
- [176] J. Chen, B.L. Daniel, K. Butts Pauly, Investigation of proton density for measuring tissue temperature, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 23 (2006) 430– 434.
- [177] Y. Kamimura, Y. Amemiya, An NMR technique for non-invasive thermometry using M0 as the temperature-sensitive parameter, Auto-Medica 8 (1987) 295–313.
- [178] M.P. Fried, P.R. Morrison, S.G. Hushek, G.A. Kernahan, F.A. Jolesz, Dynamic T1weighted magnetic resonance imaging of interstitial laser photocoagulation in the liver: observations on in vivo temperature sensitivity, Lasers Surg. Med. 18 (1996) 410–419, https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9101(1996) 18:4<410::AID-LSM11>3.0.CO;2-7.

- [179] B.M. Fung, D.L. Durham, D.A. Wassil, The state of water in biological systems as studied by proton and deuterium relaxation, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 399 (1975) 191–202.
- [180] S.J. Graham, M.J. Bronskill, R.M. Henkelman, Time and temperature dependence of MR parameters during thermal coagulation of ex vivo rabbit muscle, Magn. Reson. Med. 39 (1998) 198–203.
- [181] E. Mietzsch, M. Koch, M. Schaldach, J. Werner, B. Bellenberg, K.U. Wentz, Noninvasive temperature imaging of muscles with magnetic resonance imaging using spin-echo sequences, Med. Biol. Eng. Comput. 36 (1998) 673–678.
- [182] K. Hynynen, A. Darkazanli, E. Unger, J.F. Schenck, MRI-guided noninvasive ultrasound surgery, Med. Phys. 20 (1993) 107–115, https://doi.org/10.1118/ 1.597093.
- [183] K. Hynynen, N. McDannold, R.V. Mulkern, F.a. Jolesz, Temperature monitoring in fat with MRI, Magn. Reson. Med. 43 (2000) 901–904.
- [184] G. Allegretti, P. Saccomandi, F. Giurazza, M.A. Caponero, G. Frauenfelder, F.M. Di Matteo, B. Beomonte Zobel, S. Silvestri, E. Schena, Magnetic resonancebased thermometry during laser ablation on ex-vivo swine pancreas and liver, Med. Eng. Phys. 37 (2015) 631–641, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. medengphy.2015.04.001.
- [185] E. Ramsay, C. Mougenot, M. Kazem, T.W. Laetsch, R. Chopra, Temperaturedependent MR signals in cortical bone: potential for monitoring temperature changes during high-intensity focused ultrasound treatment in bone, Magn. Reson. Med. 74 (2015) 1095–1102, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25492.
- [186] R.M. Henkelman, G.J. Stanisz, S.J. Graham, Magnetization transfer in MRI: a review, NMR Biomed. 14 (2001) 57–64, https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.683.
- [187] D. Le Bihan, J. Delannoy, R.L. Levin, Temperature mapping with MR imaging of molecular diffusion: application to hyperthermia, Radiology 171 (1989) 853– 857, https://doi.org/10.1148/radiology.171.3.2717764.
- [188] J.H. Simpson, H.Y. Carr, Diffusion and nuclear spin relaxation in water, Phys. Rev. 116 (1958) 131–150, https://doi.org/10.16251/j.cnki.1009-2307.2011.04.021.
- [189] J. Delannoy, C.N. Chen, R. Turner, R.L. Levin, J. Delannoy, C.N. Chen, R. Turner, R.L. Levin, D. Le Bihan, Noninvasive temperature imaging using diffusion MRI, Magn. Reson. Med. 19 (1991) 333–339. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1881323>.
- [190] K.A. Il'yasov, J. Hennig, Single-shot diffusion-weighted RARE sequence: application for temperature monitoring during hyperthermia session, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 8 (1998) 1296–1305, https://doi.org/10.1002/ jmri.1880080617.
- [191] A.R. Bleier, F.A. Jolesz, M.S. Cohen, R.M. Weisskoff, J.J. Dalcanton, N. Higuchi, D.A. Feinberg, B.R. Rosen, Real-time magnetic resonance imaging of laser heat deposition in tissue, Magn. Reson. Med. 21 (1991) 132–137.
- [192] J. MacFall, D.M. Prescott, E. Fullar, T.V. Samulski, Temperature dependence of canine brain tissue diffusion coefficient measured in vivo with magnetic resonance echo-planar imaging, Int. J. Hyperth. 11 (1995) 73–86.
- [193] M.E. Moseley, Y. Cohen, J. Mintorovitch, L. Chileuitt, H. Shimizu, J. Kucharczyk, M.F. Wendland, Early detection of regional cerebral ischemia in cats: comparison of diffusion- and T2-weighted MRI and spectroscopy, Magn. Reson. Med. 14 (1990) 330–346.
- [194] J. Delannoy, D. LeBihan, D.I. Hoult, R.L. Levin, C.R.E.F. Id, M.L. Uum, M. Library, Hyperthermia system combined with a magnetic resonance imaging unit, Med. Phys. 17 (1990) 855–860, https://doi.org/10.1118/1.596477.
- [195] Y. Zhang, T.V. Samulski, W.T. Joines, J. Mattiello, R.L. Levin, D. LeBihan, On the accuracy of noninvasive thermometry using molecular diffusion magnetic resonance imaging, Int. J. Hyperth. 8 (1992) 263–274.
- [196] K. Sumida, N. Sato, M. Ota, K. Sakai, Y. Nippashi, D. Sone, K. Yokoyama, K. Ito, N. Maikusa, E. Imabayashi, H. Matsuda, K. Yamada, M. Murata, A. Kunimatsu, K. Ohtomo, Intraventricular cerebrospinal fluid temperature analysis using MR diffusion-weighted imaging thermometry in Parkinson's disease patients, multiple system atrophy patients, and healthy subjects, Brain Behav. 5 (2015) e00340, https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.340.
- [197] K. Sakai, K. Yamada, S. Mori, N. Sugimoto, T. Nishimura, Age-dependent brain temperature decline assessed by diffusion-weighted imaging thermometry, NMR Biomed. 24 (2011) 1063–1067, https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.1656.
- [198] L.R. Kozak, M. Bango, M. Szabo, G. Rudas, Z. Vidnyanszky, Z. Nagy, Using diffusion MRI for measuring the temperature of cerebrospinal fluid within the lateral ventricles, Acta Paediatr. 99 (2010) 237–243, https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01528.x.
- [199] K. Sakai, K. Yamada, N. Sugimoto, Calculation methods for ventricular diffusion-weighted imaging thermometry: phantom and volunteer studies, NMR Biomed. 25 (2012) 340–346, https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.1755.
- [200] R. Mills, Self-diffusion in normal and heavy water in the range 1–45°, J. Phys. Chem. 77 (1973) 685–688, https://doi.org/10.1021/j100624a025.
- [201] E.B. Cady, P.C. D'Souza, J. Penrice, A. Lorek, The estimation of local brain temperature by in vivo 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy, Magn. Reson. Med. 33 (1995) 862–867.
- [202] I. Marshall, B. Karaszewski, J.M. Wardlaw, V. Cvoro, K. Wartolowska, P.A. Armitage, T. Carpenter, M.E. Bastin, A. Farrall, K. Haga, Measurement of regional brain temperature using proton spectroscopic imaging: validation and application to acute ischemic stroke, Magn. Reson. Imaging 24 (2006) 699–706, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2006.02.002.
- [203] R.D. Farrant, J.C. Lindon, J.K. Nicholson, Internal temperature calibration for 1H NMR spectroscopy studies of blood plasma and other biofluids, NMR Biomed. 7 (1994) 243–247.

- [204] R.J. Corbett, A.R. Laptook, G. Tollefsbol, B. Kim, Validation of a noninvasive method to measure brain temperature in vivo using 1H NMR spectroscopy, J. Neurochem. 64 (1995) 1224–1230.
- [205] R.V. Mulkern, A.H. Chung, F.A. Jolesz, K. Hynynen, Temperature monitoring of ultrasonically heated muscle with RARE chemical shift imaging, Med. Phys. 24 (1997) 1899–1906, https://doi.org/10.1118/1.598103.
- [206] K. Kuroda, R. Mulkern, K. Oshio, L. Panych, T. Nakai, T. Moriya, S. Okuda, K. Hynynen, F. Jolesz, Temperature mapping using the water proton chemical shift: self-referenced method with echo-planar spectroscopic imaging, Magn. Reson. Med. 43 (2000) 220–225.
- [207] N. McDannold, K. Hynynen, K. Oshio, R.V. Mulkern, Temperature monitoring with line scan echo planar spectroscopic imaging, Med. Phys. 28 (2001) 346– 355, https://doi.org/10.1118/1.1350434.
- [208] K. Kuroda, N. Takei, R.V. Mulkern, K. Oshio, T. Nakai, T. Okada, A. Matsumura, K. Yanaka, K. Hynynen, F.A. Jolesz, Feasibility of internally referenced brain temperature imaging with a metabolite signal, Magn. Reson. Med. Sci. 2 (2003) 17–22.
- [209] K. Kuroda, Y. Suzuki, Y. Ishihara, K. Okamoto, Temperature mapping using water proton chemical shift obtained with 3D-MRSI: feasibility in vivo, Magn. Reson. Med. 35 (1996) 20–29.
- [210] R. Corbett, A. Laptook, P. Weatherall, Noninvasive measurements of human brain temperature using volume-localized proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab 17 (1997) 363–369, https://doi. org/10.1097/00004647-199704000-00001.
- [211] M.B. Yatvin, J.N. Weinstein, W.H. Dennis, R. Blumenthal, Design of liposomes for enhanced local release of drugs by hyperthermia, Science 202 (1978) 1290–1293.
- [212] C. Tilcock, P. MacDougall, E. Unger, D. Cardenas, L. Fajardo, The effect of lipid composition on the relaxivity of Gd-DTPA entrapped in lipid vesicles of defined size, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1022 (1990) 181–186.
- [213] G. Bacić, M.R. Niesman, H.F. Bennett, R.L. Magin, H.M. Swartz, Modulation of water proton relaxation rates by liposomes containing paramagnetic materials, Magn. Reson. Med. 6 (1988) 445–458.
- [214] B. Pütz, D. Barsky, K. Schulten, Mechanisms of liposomal contrast agents in magnetic resonance imaging, J. Liposome Res. 4 (1994) 771–808, https://doi. org/10.3109/08982109409018599.
- [215] V.S. Trubetskoy, J.A. Cannillo, A. Milshtein, G.L. Wolf, V.P. Torchilin, Controlled delivery of Gd-containing liposomes to lymph nodes: surface modification may enhance MRI contrast properties, Magn. Reson. Imaging 13 (1995) 31– 37.
- [216] Babich, Weissig, Torchilin, Long-circulating gadolinium-loaded liposomes: potential use for magnetic resonance imaging of the blood pool, Colloids Surf. B. Biointerfaces 18 (2000) 293–299.
- [217] S.L. Fossheim, A.K. Fahlvik, J. Klaveness, R.N. Muller, Paramagnetic liposomes as MRI contrast agents: influence of liposomal physicochemical properties on the in vitro relaxivity, Magn. Reson. Imaging 17 (1999) 83–89.
- [218] N. McDannold, S.L. Fossheim, H. Rasmussen, H. Martin, N. Vykhodtseva, K. Hynynen, Heat-activated liposomal MR contrast agent: initial in vivo results in rabbit liver and kidney, Radiology 230 (2004) 743–752, https://doi.org/ 10.1148/radiol.2303021713.
- [219] S.A. Abraham, K. Edwards, G. Karlsson, S. MacIntosh, L.D. Mayer, C. McKenzie, M.B. Bally, Formation of transition metal-doxorubicin complexes inside liposomes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 1565 (2002) 41–54, https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2736(02)00507-2.
- [220] D. Needham, G. Anyarambhatla, G. Kong, A new temperature-sensitive liposome for use with mild hyperthermia : characterization and testing in a human tumor xenograft model advances in brief a new temperaturesensitive liposome for use with mild hyperthermia : characterization and testing in a H, 2000, pp. 1197–1201.
- [221] S.K. Hekmatyar, R.M. Kerkhoff, S.K. Pakin, P. Hopewell, N. Bansal, Noninvasive thermometry using hyperfine-shifted MR signals from paramagnetic lanthanide complexes, Int. J. Hyperth. 21 (2005) 561–574, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02656730500133801.
- [222] C.S. Zuo, K.R. Metz, Y. Sun, A.D. Sherry, NMR temperature measurements using a paramagnetic lanthanide complex, J. Magn. Reson. 133 (1998) 53–60, https://doi.org/10.1006/jmre.1998.1429.
- [223] S. Dharmadhikari, J.R. James, J. Nyenhuis, N. Bansal, Evaluation of radiofrequency safety by high temperature resolution MR thermometry using a paramagnetic lanthanide complex, Magn. Reson. Med. 75 (2016) 2121–2129, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25792.
- [224] T. Frenzel, K. Roth, S. Koßler, B. Radüchel, H. Bauer, J. Platzek, H.-J. Weinmann, Noninvasive temperature measurement in Vivo using a temperaturesensitive lanthanide complex and 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy, Magn. Reson. Med. 35 (1996) 364–369, https://doi.org/10.1002/ mrm.1910350314.
- [225] M. Hentschel, P. Wust, W. Wlodarczyk, T. Frenzel, B. Sander, N. Hosten, R. Felix, Non-invasive MR thermometry by 2D spectroscopic imaging of the Pr [MOE-D03A] complex, Int. J. Hyperth. 14 (1998) 479–493.
- [226] C.S. Zuo, J.L. Bowers, K.R. Metz, T. Nosaka, A.D. Sherry, M.E. Clouse, TmDOTP5-: A substance for NMR temperature measurements in vivo, Magn. Reson. Med. 36 (1996) 955–959, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910360619.
- [227] N.B. Butwell, R. Ramasamy, A.D. Sherry, C.R. Malloy, Influence of cardiac pacing on intracellular sodium in the isolated perfused rat heart, Invest. Radiol. 26 (1991) 1079–1082.

- [228] N. Bansal, M.J. Germann, I. Lazar, C.R. Malloy, A.D. Sherry, In vivo Na-23 MR imaging and spectroscopy of rat brain during TmDOTP5- infusion, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging. 2 (1992) 385-391.
- [229] N. Bansal, M.J. Germann, V. Seshan, G.T. Shires, C.R. Malloy, A.D. Sherry, Thulium 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetrakis(methylene phosphonate) as a 23Na shift reagent for the in vivo rat liver, Biochemistry 32 (1993) 5638-5643.
- [230] P.M. Winter, N. Bansal, TmDOTP5- as a 23Na shift reagent for the subcutaneously implanted 9L gliosarcoma in rats, Magn. Reson. Med. 45 (2001) 436-442, https://doi.org/10.1002/1522-2594(200103)45:3<436::AID-MRM1057>3.0.CO:2-6.
- [231] H.K.F. Trübel, P.K. Maciejewski, J.H. Farber, F. Hyder, Brain temperature measured by ¹H-NMR in conjunction with a lanthanide complex, J. Appl. 94 (2003) 1641-1649, Physiol. https://doi.org/ 10.1152/japplphysiol.00841.2002.
- [232] C.S. Zuo, A. Mahmood, A.D. Sherry, TmDOTA-: A sensitive probe for MR thermometry in vivo, J. Magn. Reson. 151 (2001) 101-106, https://doi.org/ 10.1006/jmre.2001.2356
- [233] S. Hekmatyar, H. Poptani, A. Babsky, D. Leeper, N. Bansal, Non-invasive magnetic resonance thermometry using thulium-1, 4, tetraazacyclododecane-1, 4, 7, 10-tetraacetate (TmDOTA-), Int. J. Hyperth. 18 (2002) 165-179, https://doi.org/10.1080/0265673011009859
- [234] S.K. Hekmatyar, P. Hopewell, S.K. Pakin, A. Babsky, N. Bansal, Noninvasive MR thermometry using paramagnetic lanthanide complexes of 1,4,7,10tetraazacyclodoecane-alpha, alpha', alpha", alpha" tetramethyl-1,4,7,10tetraacetic acid (DOTMA4), Magn. Reson. Med. 53 (2005) 294-303, https:// doi.org/10.1002/mrm.20345.
- [235] J.R. James, Y. Gao, M.A. Miller, A. Babsky, N. Bansal, Absolute temperature MR imaging with thulium 1,4,7,10- tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetramethyl-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid (TmDOTMA-), Magn. Reson. Med. 62 (2009) 550-556, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.22039.
- [236] S.K. Pakin, S.K. Hekmatyar, P. Hopewell, A. Babsky, N. Bansal, Non-invasive temperature imaging with thulium 1,4,7, 10-tetraazacyclododecane- 1,4,7, 10-tetramethyl-1,4,7, 10-tetraacetic acid (TmDOTMA-), NMR Biomed. 19 (2006) 116-124, https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.1010.
- S. Zhang, C.R. Malloy, A.D. Sherry, MRI thermometry based on PARACEST agents, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 17572-17573, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/ja053799t.MRI.
- [238] R.N. Muller, L. Vander Elst, S. Laurent, Spin transition molecular materials: intelligent contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125 (2003) 8405-8407, https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0349599.
- [239] G. Galiana, R.T. Branca, E.R. Jenista, W.S. Warren, Accurate temperature imaging based on intermolecular coherences in magnetic resonance, Science 80-.). 322 (2008) 421-424.
- [240] E.R. Jenista, G. Galiana, R.T. Branca, P.S. Yarmolenko, A.M. Stokes, M.W. Dewhirst, W.S. Warren, Application of mixed spin iMQCs for temperature and chemical-selective imaging, J. Magn. Reson. 204 (2010) 208-218, https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jmr.2010.02.021.
- [241] E.R. Jenista, R.T. Branca, W.S. Warren, Absolute temperature imaging using intermolecular multiple quantum MRI, Int. J. Hyperth. 26 (2010) 725-734, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2010.499527
- S. Vathyam, S. Lee, W.S. Warren, Homogeneous NMR spectra in inhomogeneous fields, Science. 272 (1996) 92–96. [242] S.
- [243] R.M. Davis, Z. Zhou, H. Chung, W.S. Warren, Multi-spin echo spatial encoding provides three-fold improvement of temperature precision during intermolecular zero quantum thermometry, Magn. Reson. Med. 75 (2016) 1958-1966, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25789.
- [244] R.M. Davis, W.S. Warren, Intermolecular zero quantum coherences enable accurate temperature imaging in red bone marrow, Magn. Reson. Med. 74 (2015) 63-70, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.25372.
- [245] S.K. Das, J. Macfall, R. McCauley, O. Craciunescu, M.W. Dewhirst, T.V. Samulski, Improved magnetic resonance thermal imaging by combining proton resonance frequency shift (PRFS) and apparent diffusion coefficient

(ADC) data, Int. J. Hyperth. 21 (2005) 657-667, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02656730500186346

- [246] C. Bos, M. Lepetit-Coiffé, B. Quesson, C.T.W. Moonen, Simultaneous monitoring of temperature and T1: Methods and preliminary results of application to drug delivery using thermosensitive liposomes, Magn. Reson. Med. 54 (2005) 1020-1024, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.20635.
- [247] E. Kneepkens, E. Heijman, J. Keupp, S. Weiss, K. Nicolay, H. Grüll, Interleaved mapping of temperature and longitudinal relaxation rate to monitor drug delivery during magnetic resonance-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound-induced hyperthermia, Invest. Radiol. 52 (2017) 620-630, https://doi.org/10.1097/RLI.00000000000392.
- [248] B.T. Svedin, D.L. Parker, The effect of 2D excitation profile on T1 measurement accuracy using the variable flip angle method with an average flip angle assumption, Med. Phys. 44 (2017) 5930-5937, https://doi.org/10.1002/ mp.12513.
- [249] Jochen Keupp, Steffen Weiss, Jaakko Tolo, Holger Gruell, Edwin Heijman, Simultaneous T2 mapping in Near-Field Subcutaneous Fat Layer and PRFS Temperature Mapping in the Target Region using Fast Interleaved Sequences to Monitor MR-HIFU Sonication, in: ISMRM, Toronto, 2015: p. 4061. http:// archive.ismrm.org/2015/4061.html> (accessed September 7, 2018).

Glossary

ADC: Apparent diffusion coefficient

- BOLD: Blood oxygenation level dependent
- CEST: Chemical exchange saturation transfer
 - CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid
 - DOX: Doxorubicin
 - DTI: Diffusion tensor imaging
 - DWI: Diffusion weighted image
 - EPI: Echo planar imaging
 - EPSI: Echo planar spectroscopic imaging
 - FOV: Field of view
 - GRE: Gradient recalled echo
 - HIFU: High intensity focused ultrasound
- IDEAL: Iterative decomposition of water and fat with echo asymmetry and leastsquares estimation
- iDQC: Intermolecular double quantum coherences
- iMQC: Intermolecular multiple quantum coherence
- *iZOC*[•] Intermolecular zero quantum coherences
- LSEPSI: Line scan echo planar spectroscopic imaging
- MASTER: Multiple adjacent slice thermometry with excitation refocusing
- MR: Magnetic resonance
- MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging
- MRSI: Magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging
- MRTI: Magnetic resonance temperature imaging PD: Proton density
- PEG: Polyethyleneglycol
- PRF: Proton resonance frequency
- RF: Radiofrequency
- ROI: Region of interest
- SE: Spin echo
- SI: Signal intensity
- SMS: Simultaneous multi-slice
- SNR: Signal to noise ratio
- SSFP: Steady state free precession
- TE: Echo time
- TR: Repetition time
- TSL: Thermosensitive liposomes
- VFA: Variable flip-angle